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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to this morning's hearing of the Committee

          4  on Transportation. My name is John Liu and I have

          5  the privilege of chairing this Committee.

          6                 This hearing has been convened to

          7  examine Intro. No. 287, the Clean Air Taxicab Act,

          8  which would require all taxicabs placed into

          9  operation to use alternative fuels.

         10                 I think that most of us would agree

         11  that we should encourage the use of alternative fuel

         12  vehicles to improve our environment, minimize

         13  pollution that causes asthma in our communities, and

         14  lessen our dependence on fossil fuels.

         15                 Often, despite our best intentions,

         16  we find ourselves in a bind. Car manufacturers and

         17  alternative fuel providers do not have a guaranteed

         18  market to make investment in alternative fuel

         19  technology financially viable. Drivers, on the other

         20  hand, are limited in their options, and often cannot

         21  afford alternative fuel vehicles because the market

         22  isn't growing enough to minimize costs.

         23                 One way to escape this catch-22 is to

         24  convert large fleets of cars that would quickly

         25  expand the number of vehicles purchased. This would

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  provide incentives to the manufacturers to produce

          3  vehicles that meet the needs of these fleets,

          4  motivate fuel companies to build fueling stations,

          5  and increase the quantity of cars produced, thereby

          6  decreasing the costs of production to make cars more

          7  affordable to consumer individuals.

          8                 In New York City there are more than

          9  12,000 taxicabs and 900 more will be added by the

         10  end of this fiscal year.

         11                 Since the City licenses taxicabs and

         12  gives them the right to operate, we can use this

         13  ability to demand certain standards.

         14                 For example, taxicabs have to be

         15  certain sizes with certain safety provisions. Why

         16  can't we therefore require that they use certain

         17  types of fueling systems? Certainly ones that

         18  provide so many advantages.

         19                 These cars are often used 24 hours a

         20  day, seven days a week, and if we can make them

         21  cleaner we could, in one step, make a huge

         22  difference in minimizing air pollution in this City.

         23                 Most importantly, New York City

         24  taxicabs are one of the most recognizable types of

         25  cars in the country, not the world. Who doesn't
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          2  associate this City with yellow cabs? Millions of

          3  people travel in them every day.

          4                 If we, as a City, can convert the

          5  fleet to alternative fuel vehicles, we will be

          6  providing invaluable amounts of publicity for

          7  alternative fuel technology, and if an alternative

          8  fuel vehicle can be used as a New York City taxicab,

          9  it's tough enough for anything.

         10                 There are still questions that remain

         11  to be answered. Many vehicle owners are concerned

         12  about the expense of purchasing and operating an

         13  alternative fuel vehicle. We also must see the

         14  market expand. There are few vehicles that meet the

         15  specifications that the Taxi and Limousine

         16  Commission requires for taxicabs, and we need more

         17  CNG fueling, compressed natural gas fueling

         18  stations.

         19                 We are here today to listen to these

         20  concerns and learn about developments that will

         21  ensure that alternative fuel vehicles are abundant

         22  and affordable for taxicab drivers, and eventually

         23  for New Yorkers.

         24                 Today we expect to hear from Matt

         25  Daus, the Chairman of the Taxi and Limousine
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          2  Commission, representatives of taxicab fleets,

          3  owners, the Port Authority of New York and New

          4  Jersey and KeySpan, who will discuss their

          5  alternative fuel programs and fueling stations,

          6  representatives of Ford and Toyota Motor Companies,

          7  to discuss the availability of alternative fuel

          8  vehicles that can be used as taxicabs, and

          9  environmental advocates to relate data concerning

         10  the advantages of alternative fuel vehicles on the

         11  City's environment.

         12                 Before we turn to our first

         13  testimony, I want to introduce Council Member David

         14  Yassky, who introduced this bill and who I join as a

         15  prime sponsor.

         16                 I now turn the floor over to Council

         17  Member Yassky.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very

         19  much, Chair Liu. I just want to thank you for your

         20  leadership and creativity on this issue, first in

         21  joining me in introducing this bill together,

         22  second, in holding this hearing, which I think is

         23  the critical first step toward figuring out how we

         24  can actually make some real genuine progress on this

         25  issue.
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          2                 You have stated the case as well as

          3  it can be for why we need to make progress on clean

          4  air taxicabs. The context, just to add the context,

          5  we live in a City with a terrible and worsening

          6  problem of air pollution and respiratory disease.

          7  The New York City Health Department earlier this

          8  year released a study with its own figures.

          9                 I continue to be flabberghasted by

         10  these numbers, one in eight New Yorkers have asthma,

         11  according to the Health Commissioner Tom Frieden.

         12  When we have, as you point out, Chair Liu, 12,000,

         13  soon to be 13,000 taxicabs, many of which are

         14  running 24 hours a day, that represents to me just

         15  an invaluable opportunity to make progress, and, so,

         16  I will reserve my other comments so we can hear from

         17  the witnesses and have a dialogue on this.

         18                 Thank you, again, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         20  Member Yassky.

         21                 And now we're delighted that we've

         22  been joined by the Chairman of the Taxi and

         23  Limousine Commission, Matt Daus.

         24                 Good morning.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Good morning, Mr.
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          2  Chairman. I hope you feel better.

          3                 But first I'd like to start by just

          4  applauding your efforts, Mr. Chairman, and Council

          5  Member Yassky, for continuously raising this issue.

          6  It's an important issue in the City of New York, and

          7  I think that people may agree to disagree on the

          8  issue on how you accomplish the end result that

          9  everybody wants this City to have the cleanest air

         10  possible.

         11                 To my right is our Assistant

         12  Commissioner for Safety and Emissions at TLC, and

         13  Jed is responsible, Jed Applebaum, for overseeing

         14  our inspection facility and is our resident expert

         15  in such issues.

         16                 To my left is Peter Mazur, who I

         17  believe you know, our General Counsel.

         18                 In the interest of time and to have a

         19  good dialogue, I have submitted written testimony

         20  for the record, and I would hope that you an the

         21  members of the industry would read it in detail, but

         22  I'd like to dispense with the reading of that

         23  testimony and get right to the point. It's a rare

         24  thing for me.

         25                 Intro. No. 287, Clean Air Taxicabs.
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          2  Everybody wants to have clean air, there's no

          3  question about it, but it's also important not to

          4  ignore the progress that has been made, even with

          5  gasoline and petroleum vehicles over the years and

          6  through the TLCs and the City's policies.

          7                 Earlier this year, many of you may

          8  remember that the TLC and the DOT and many other

          9  different City agencies had an event in City Hall

         10  Park, where the City of New York was designated a

         11  clean city by the federal government. That is a

         12  major step in the right direction, but there's still

         13  more that we can and should do.

         14                 We have 91 CNG, compressed natural

         15  gas, taxicabs on the road right now, and we have

         16  various policies which have promoted, though, the

         17  cleanest possible running gasoline-powered vehicles.

         18  And just to briefly touch on that, for those who are

         19  not involved in the industry, we have a vehicle

         20  requirement policy that is primarily geared towards

         21  ensuring that the air is cleaner and that the

         22  vehicles produce less emissions. Fleet vehicles are

         23  required to be taken out of service after three

         24  years, and individually owned and operated taxicabs

         25  are required to be taken out of service every five
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          2  years.

          3                 Our studies have shown that even

          4  though these vehicles pass inspection as the years

          5  go on, and meet state standards in terms of being

          6  road worthy, after two years the carbon monoxide and

          7  hydrocarbon emissions tend to go up year-by-year.

          8  Two years seems to be a break-even point.

          9                 And then after that, the emissions

         10  tend to be a little bit more and a little bit more,

         11  even though they're within acceptable guidelines,

         12  and many of these vehicles go and pass inspection

         13  years later.

         14                 The vehicle retirement policy that

         15  was enacted in '96 has made a difference. There is

         16  no question that the taxicabs now are cleaner in the

         17  City than they've ever been before because of that

         18  policy. Also because of a policy and a procedure

         19  that requires that every single taxicab in the City

         20  of New York be inspected, not once every year, but

         21  three times a year. Every vehicle that's a passenger

         22  vehicle must be inspected once a year under state

         23  law, we go further than that and require them to

         24  have safety and emissions inspections three times a

         25  year.
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          2                 Next year we're going to be

          3  implementing OBD2 testing, On-Board Diagnostic

          4  testing, which will be an even more enhanced

          5  emissions test and a more accurate test to make sure

          6  that the vehicles, the gasoline fuel vehicles are

          7  even cleaner.

          8                 The essence of it is that the

          9  computer would talk directly into the computer of

         10  the car and be able to gauge emissions and pass or

         11  fail that way.

         12                 The good news is that since these

         13  policies have been put into place, the inspection

         14  failure rate has declined from 65 percent to

         15  consistently at 35 or 34 percent. That is a major

         16  accomplishment, but there's still more that needs to

         17  be done.

         18                 When it comes to CNG vehicles, this

         19  bill, from my reading of it, would require that

         20  after December 31st and every new taxicab that's put

         21  into service would either need to be a CNG or a

         22  hybrid vehicle.

         23                 First, on the issue of CNG. It's

         24  important for the Council to note the history of a

         25  program that the TLC started in 1996 involving the
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          2  fleet. The fleets in the City of New York have what

          3  is known as stand-by vehicles or SBVs. A certain

          4  percentage of their vehicles are kept in the fleet

          5  in case they need to bring their other taxicabs into

          6  service, they just take the medallion off of one, so

          7  that one vehicle is in for repair or in for

          8  inspection, they put the medallion on another one.

          9                 So, the Commission passed regulations

         10  back in 1996 which required that a percentage of the

         11  fleet turn their stand-by vehicles into compressed

         12  natural gas vehicles.

         13                 I was not privy to a lot of the

         14  discussions way back then, but I was very much

         15  involved as general counsel with the repeal by the

         16  TLC's Board of Commissioners of those regulations,

         17  and my understanding of the essence of why that

         18  program did not work, is that there was some type of

         19  -- I don't know whether there was a commitment or

         20  an understanding or a discussion about utility

         21  companies, and fueling companies, creating more

         22  infrastructure and more fueling stations, and there

         23  may have been at the time that the rules were passed

         24  a certain expectation that there would be a certain

         25  number of pumps and fueling stations throughout the
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          2  City so that the demand could be met, and what

          3  ultimately happens, from what I understand, is that

          4  that commitment was not followed through on or that

          5  there were sufficient numbers of fueling stations.

          6  There were some technical problems with the fueling

          7  and with the vehicles and there were a lot of

          8  complaints actually about the lack of trunk space

          9  and so forth.

         10                 So, what the Commission did in 2000,

         11  the Board of Commissioners repealed those rules, but

         12  the TLC continued its commitment to do everything

         13  within its power working with the state and any

         14  other partners in government to provide voluntary

         15  incentives, to try to get as many clean air fuel

         16  vehicles on the market.

         17                 Two of those incentives: First of

         18  all, we passed regulations that would add an

         19  additional two years on vehicle retirement. The

         20  reason we did this is because compressed natural gas

         21  vehicles, do not emit the same level, not even near

         22  the same level of harmful emissions that gasoline

         23  vehicles could as time goes by. So, we allow people

         24  to keep CNG vehicles on the road an additional two

         25  years. So, for fleet vehicles it would be five
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          2  years, for individually owned and operated vehicles

          3  it could be as long as seven years.

          4                 We also work very closely with the

          5  New York State Energy Research and Development

          6  Authority, also known as NYSERDA. NYSERDA gives

          7  rebates to people who retrofit vehicles to make them

          8  CNG, and it could be anywhere from five to

          9  six-thousand dollars or more. So, money is really

         10  not, from what I understand, the biggest issue here.

         11                 I think the biggest issue here is

         12  concerns about technical problems, concerns about

         13  the size of the vehicles in terms of passenger

         14  comfort and convenience, and also the biggest

         15  problem, being the lack of infrastructure. The lack

         16  of sufficient number of fueling stations. There are

         17  only 11 fueling stations in the City of New York,

         18  only two in Manhattan. Most of them are not private

         19  fueling stations, they are utility companies, like

         20  Con Ed and KeySpan who have other uses for those

         21  pumps as well.

         22                 So, that is the biggest issue that I

         23  think led to the repeal of those regulations. When

         24  it comes to Harvard vehicles, for those who are

         25  conversant in the issue, I know Council Member
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          2  Yassky is very much involved with a lot of these

          3  issues and very knowledgeable about them, there are

          4  a lot of different technology, technologies that are

          5  being experimented with now. You have ethanol, you

          6  have potential hydrogen use of vehicles, and

          7  probably becoming even more mainstream now are

          8  hybrid electrics.

          9                 I think the ideal would probably be

         10  right now to give them supply and available

         11  technology is CNG seems to be probably the most

         12  easily implementable, if that's a word, easiest way

         13  to implement some type of new clean air commitment

         14  as we move forward.

         15                 Hybrid electric has some issues, and

         16  the main issue is that the vehicles that have been

         17  presented to us do not meet our taxi specifications.

         18  It's kind of a balancing act. When it comes to

         19  hybrid electrics, you don't need to have this

         20  fueling infrastructure because they run on gasoline,

         21  and the electricity keeps generating. So, you're

         22  basically using less gasoline, and have less

         23  emissions, but CNG, from what I understand, would be

         24  a cleaner vehicle.

         25                 The problem is size. We've had a
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          2  tremendous number of complaints about the size of

          3  yellow taxicabs in the City of New York over the

          4  years. As such we put into place regulations that

          5  require them to be bigger than ever before. We now

          6  have stretch Ford Crown Victorias, and that is the

          7  biggest obstacle right now, unless manufacturers

          8  make bigger vehicles to us getting hybrid electrics

          9  approved as yellow cabs. There's only one company

         10  that has come forward to us that has submitted a

         11  vehicle for approval several years ago and that's

         12  GSM, and there was an issue with GSM, it wasn't as

         13  much the size as it was that they had not done crash

         14  testing of the vehicle, so we cannot approve a

         15  vehicle that has not gone through FMVSS standards,

         16  Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards. Crash

         17  testing is a requirement. We're not going to put a

         18  vehicle on the road that's not safe.

         19                 Long story short, there are two

         20  hurdles. Number one, the way the process works under

         21  our rules, the manufacturer has to come forward to

         22  the TLC and present the vehicle for approval if

         23  there's an interest in the market. And they have to

         24  meet the size requirements, and they have to meet

         25  safety requirements.
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          2                 Two of the vehicles that I understand

          3  that are on the road right now that are promising,

          4  the Toyota Pris and the Honda Civic, both of those

          5  vehicles, unfortunately, do not meet our size

          6  specifications. So there are some challenges here,

          7  and the important thing is to do more exploration

          8  and have more consultation and dialogue with

          9  manufacturers and see if there is a way to come up

         10  with a vehicle that is big, roomy, and which also is

         11  able to be safe, meet federal standards, and look

         12  and smell and feel like a taxicab in the City of New

         13  York.

         14                 The next step: Where do we go from

         15  here? First of all, when you're talking about

         16  voluntary incentives, we have to also realize the

         17  challenges that are being faced. The Council and

         18  Bloomberg Administration passed and signed a law

         19  which requires that we offer for sale a certain

         20  percentage of the medallions that we might be

         21  selling over the next three years and dedicate them

         22  to clean air fuel vehicles. That's a major step in

         23  the right direction.

         24                 It's not a tremendous number of

         25  vehicles but every step, every new vehicle that we
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          2  add to the road is a good and a positive thing.

          3                 The incentive there is that the way

          4  the law was written by the Council, and we totally

          5  agree with it, is that you would be able to get a

          6  slight discount on the price of your medallion at an

          7  auction, which is an incentive for people to buy the

          8  vehicles.

          9                 We don't envision giving the

         10  difficulties and challenges facing hybrids, that

         11  there will be many hybrids in the first sale, but I

         12  think if people avail themselves of those medallions

         13  they'll probably try and put some CNG cabs on the

         14  road.

         15                 We also are partnering and working

         16  with NYSERDA, and recently issued an RFP with them.

         17  They're taking the lead and we're participating in

         18  their review committee, to provide monies that I

         19  believe come from the federal government and through

         20  the State to manufacturers to develop purpose built,

         21  off the assembly line, clean air fuel vehicles that

         22  are also accessible vehicles, with the fuel train

         23  that's capable of handling both CNG and/or hybrid.

         24                 Basically these monies are being

         25  given, through a competitive process, to
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          2  manufacturers to develop the technology so that it

          3  will ultimately hopefully be cheaper for people to

          4  buy these vehicles when it comes off the assembly

          5  line.

          6                 We're making progress. My

          7  understanding is the proposal period has been over

          8  and done with, they're ready to make an award to

          9  start working with some companies, and I'll provide

         10  more details as they become available.

         11                 That's a major step in the right

         12  direction. And most importantly, I think what we

         13  really need to do, is get some type of real

         14  commitment and sit down with the fueling companies,

         15  and with the utility companies, because sometimes

         16  the interest of the utility companies don't

         17  necessarily jive with fueling companies, maybe a

         18  little bit of competition between them in terms of

         19  who is going to have the market on CNG fueling

         20  stations.

         21                 I was very happy and pleased to be

         22  invited by the Port Authority who has tremendous

         23  efforts at trying to get more clean air fueling

         24  stations at its airport. It has one at JFK we just

         25  opened and christened a new fueling station by BP,
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          2  at LaGuardia, about two weeks ago, and that's a

          3  great step in the right direction. Not only will it

          4  encourage more taxicabs to go to the airport and

          5  serve the people, but that's a major step in the

          6  right direction to allow for the 91 additional clean

          7  air vehicle medallions to have some place to go to

          8  refuel.

          9                 There's a lot that needs to be done.

         10  Two fueling stations in Manhattan is not going to

         11  cut it, because under this legislation, thousands in

         12  the first year of yellow cabs would need to be

         13  clean-air fueled, and the major challenge is that

         14  3,000 cabs are not going to be refuel twice a day at

         15  two fueling stations in Manhattan.

         16                 And furthermore, the other concern,

         17  and the challenge that we face, is that my

         18  understanding, and Ford is here to testify today,

         19  but we just heard from Ford the other day that

         20  they're not going to be manufacturing a dedicated

         21  CNG purpose built vehicle next year. That they will

         22  not be manufacturing a CNG Crown Victoria next year,

         23  which is 2004. That is a major problem, because that

         24  is the vehicle of choice right now. That is the

         25  vehicle that is being used. We would prefer from a
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          2  safety standpoint and a customer convenience

          3  standpoint to have vehicles come off the assembly

          4  line rather than be retrofitted for clean air.

          5  Because the retrofitting also, many of the retrofits

          6  defeat the whole purpose because you have a bi-fuel

          7  system, you usually have a reserve gas tank and you

          8  have CNG.

          9                 So there are issues, there are

         10  challenges. I think that -- I applaud the Council

         11  for moving forward and raising this issue. We like

         12  to work with you on developing this in partnership

         13  with the fueling industry, in partnership with the

         14  utilities, the utility companies I would

         15  manufacture. This is something where it's kind of a

         16  catch-22; if you mandate that this be done, there's

         17  not going to be enough time to get all the

         18  infrastructure in place to deal with the demand, yet

         19  the best approach probably is to provide incentives

         20  to gradually increase demand and get a real

         21  commitment from these companies to put more

         22  infrastructure in place. It's a difficult issue.

         23  It's a very difficult issue. The TLC many years ago

         24  tried this and it failed.

         25                 You know, I have to oppose the bill
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          2  on the grounds that I don't believe that the way

          3  it's written right now is workable, given the

          4  realities and the challenges that we face, but we do

          5  applaud your commitment. We applaud the efforts and

          6  the intentions, and we like to sit down and work

          7  with you and get all the parties together to see if

          8  we can come up with something that is done, not over

          9  ten, 20 years, reasonably soon, but which is gradual

         10  and which does not create an undo hardship for the

         11  industry.

         12                 We don't want to put them out of

         13  business, and we don't want to have people with

         14  thousands of vehicles that will be waiting on line

         15  for two or three hours to get fuel.

         16                 The intention was to be brief. I

         17  don't know if I've accomplished that, but I hope I

         18  made my points, and I thank you for the opportunity

         19  to testify.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for your

         21  thoughtful and complete comments.

         22                 We have some questions from Council

         23  Member Yassky.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, thank

         25  you very much, Chair Liu. I appreciate your
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          2  indulging me in asking a couple of questions.

          3                 Chair Daus, better be comprehensive

          4  than leave things out, so I appreciated your

          5  thorough coverage of the issue, and I say that

          6  sincerely.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: My pleasure.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I thought you

          9  hit the nail on the head when you identified this as

         10  a catch-22. From the point of, if we start from the

         11  premise that the City government, ourselves,

         12  yourself, wants to see a clean, cleaner burning taxi

         13  fleet, and let me say, I applaud you and the

         14  previous incarnations of the TLC that have really

         15  worked on this issue, and the inspection requirement

         16  of life of the vehicle requirement, and the 1996

         17  effort, which I want to talk about more.

         18                 But TLC has absolutely taken on this

         19  issue, nobody should ignore that. But to start from

         20  the premise that the goal would be to see all, now

         21  it's 12,000, soon 13,000 taxis, be clean burning

         22  cars, how do we get there? You're right, it's a

         23  catch-22. If we mandate today they have to be clean

         24  burning, that's unrealistic.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You know,

          3  starting tomorrow. And the cut-off date in this

          4  legislation, obviously, when this bill was

          5  introduced a year and some ago, was, you know, a

          6  year and a half in the future, now the cutoff date

          7  is unrealistic.

          8                 But if we mandate today, it would be

          9  impossible to comply, and nobody wants to see the

         10  taxi industry subjected to impossible demands.

         11  That's plainly making no sense.

         12                 On the other hand, if we wait until

         13  the technology, the infrastructure is there and the

         14  technology is there, well, then we could wait

         15  forever. And, you know, Congress has responded to

         16  many of its environmental initiatives, on power

         17  plants, on auto requirements, as well, with these

         18  kind of technology-forcing statutes that set a

         19  deadline at some point in the future, and then leave

         20  it up to the private sector to get there. And I

         21  think that's a sensible approach. And I guess my

         22  question to you is, why not put in place

         23  requirements administratively, legislatively,

         24  whichever way, that say to the industry, you know,

         25  if you put enough fueling stations out there, if the
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          2  industry puts hybrids, if the fueling industry puts

          3  out enough stations on the street, if the

          4  manufacturers put enough hybrids on the market that

          5  meet the requirements, then the taxis have to take

          6  advantage of that. What would you say to that sort

          7  of approach, just in concept?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Let me just

          9  clarify to make sure I understand the question.

         10  Would actually set a date but if the infrastructure

         11  is not in place, that the date would be out the

         12  window; is that what --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Or how about a

         14  bill that says, you know, at such time as there are

         15  40 fueling stations in Manhattan, plus the airports,

         16  whatever you thought was the right amount, then

         17  taxis would have to phase-in CNG costs, or as such

         18  time as an auto manufacturer puts out a hybrid that

         19  meets taxi specifications, then he has to phase in

         20  the hybrids.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: If the Council

         22  passes a law on this front, there has to be some

         23  type of fail-safe mechanism for that. You know,

         24  because the industry, they make investments and

         25  everybody gears up to comply with laws, and they
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          2  need a little bit of leeway.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Right.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: If you go too much

          5  into the future, there may be something that's much

          6  better than CNG that comes out of some of the

          7  research that's being done.

          8                 I discussed this with the Chairman

          9  earlier, I don't even know whether it's possible,

         10  but it's really difficult to get a firm commitment

         11  from the people who are responsible for putting

         12  infrastructure in place.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Just bear with

         14  me.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Sure.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I don't want

         17  to interrupt, but I don't want to abuse, the Chair

         18  has been so gracious in letting me ask questions. I

         19  don't want to take too much time.

         20                 Let me go back to the question, what

         21  do you think of that concept? Let me get specific

         22  about it.

         23                 How many fueling stations would it

         24  take in Manhattan for 1,000 CNG cars in your

         25  opinion? Two, plainly insufficient, I understand
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          2  that. Two is insufficient for any CNG cars maybe,

          3  because, you know, you can't just find those two

          4  places, you need more flexibility. How many fueling

          5  stations do you think you would need?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Well, it probably

          7  wouldn't be prudent for me right at this point to

          8  give you an actual calculation. It can be

          9  calculated, but it needs to be calculated based not

         10  only upon the number of pumps versus the number of

         11  cabs, but the number of vehicles Citywide.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: One of the issues

         14  that I understand was a problem after '96, Council

         15  member, was the fact that there were many utility

         16  vehicles, and other types of vehicles that were

         17  using the pumps and creating great lines at these

         18  stands. You can't just look at these taxicabs in a

         19  vacuum. But there is a formula that I'm sure we

         20  could come up with, and there's a date that's going

         21  to be picked. I would urge the Council, if they are

         22  going to pass legislation on this front, to have a

         23  fail-safe. It's not fair to the industry to make

         24  them purchase vehicles if there aren't going to be

         25  fueling stations.
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          2                 I don't know whether you have the

          3  authority to mandate that companies that do business

          4  with the City of New York put certain number of

          5  pumps in.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: No. Chair, I

          7  understand you say you're not prepared. Let me ask

          8  you, can I ask you to respond in writing to that

          9  question? How many fueling stations in Manhattan

         10  would be necessary for 1,000 CNG cabs?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: We would have to

         12  sit down with the companies, because we don't have

         13  access to their data regarding usage of the pumps.

         14                 We can go out there and take a look

         15  at who is going and interview each and every one of

         16  the 91 owners of those yellow cabs that are out

         17  there now, that's something we can do, but we really

         18  need to get that information from KeySpan and from

         19  Con Ed and from the fueling companies. Because if

         20  they do have data about how much the pumps are used

         21  and by who, that would be part of the equation.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: And you'd have to

         24  also extrapolate going into the future, you know,

         25  what other mandates under City law is there for

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  maybe City vehicles to become CNG. I think that

          3  there's probably a calculation we can come up with,

          4  but I just don't think now is the right time to pass

          5  this law with this date, which I think you agree at

          6  this point.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Plainly this

          8  date is inappropriate, is too soon, no question.

          9  But, so, can I -- I will get from you your estimate

         10  about how many fueling stations would be necessary

         11  for 1,000; is that --

         12                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: We'll try to come

         13  up with one, sure. I don't have a problem with that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, I would

         15  respectfully say, I think if you're serious about

         16  trying to accomplish this, that's a necessary fact

         17  to have.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: We can give you an

         19  estimate based on taking of the variables out.

         20                 We can give you an estimate based

         21  upon our drivers and our owners, what they would

         22  need in terms of their usage.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: That we could

         25  give, however, you'll have to obviously try to get
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          2  some information separately from the companies.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm just

          4  asking for your opinion, and it would not shock me,

          5  it's happened before, in my experience, that the

          6  official government estimate of fact is different

          7  from what people in the private sector say, that

          8  would not shock me. But I would very much value, and

          9  I think that would be, frankly, a very, very

         10  credible, important estimate --

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Different members

         12  of the government come up with different estimates.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: -- Would be to

         14  have the TLC estimate of that.

         15                 And then let me just ask you this: If

         16  that number is, and I think this is way

         17  unrealistically high, but if that number was 100,

         18  you'd need 100 fueling stations, what would you

         19  think of a bill that said at such time as there are

         20  100 fueling stations, then taxis have to phase in

         21  CNG cars. Not do it in two seconds, of course I

         22  understand the realities, but as you get a new car

         23  it's got to be a CNG car, phase it in in that way;

         24  what would you think of that?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: The concept is a
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          2  good one. The dates, the fail-safe is critical. The

          3  major challenge, Council member, that you face is

          4  the fact that we do not have control over the

          5  manufacturer.

          6                 I mean, if there's a market, people

          7  who are entrepreneurs will enter it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: But it's critical

         10  because Ford is discontinuing, from what I

         11  understand, their stretch and their purpose built

         12  dedicated CNG vehicles next year. So, you know, the

         13  concept is a good one, but we have to look at the

         14  realities, and I know that you feel the same way

         15  about that. I need to start a dialogue on this

         16  issue.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I agree with

         18  you. I agree with you 100 percent on the need for

         19  fail-safe.

         20                 Can I ask one final question, Mr.

         21  Chair?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And I

         24  understand your point that there are no, currently

         25  no hybrid vehicles on the market that meet your
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          2  specifications for taxicabs and I would say, you

          3  know, this may be a place where trade-offs and

          4  compromise are necessary to achieve the pollution

          5  asthma reduction goal, we may have to compromise on

          6  other goals, maybe not, how far off -- can you just

          7  give me a sense of the magnitude, when the Preis and

          8  the other hybrid cars that are out there, do they

          9  not meet the TLC specs in terms of safety or in

         10  terms of comfort? And I take comfort very seriously,

         11  in terms of safety or in terms of comfort, that's my

         12  understanding of comfort, and if it's in terms of

         13  comfort and size, how far off are they?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: In terms of safety

         15  they're fine. Both vehicles are on the market,

         16  they've been crash tested pursuant to federal

         17  government regs.

         18                 The issue is the size. They're too

         19  small. They're way too small. I'm not that tall,

         20  but, you know, there are many tall people in the

         21  City that have written me letters over the years

         22  complaining vociferously about how small the Crown

         23  Vics were and you know, we were successful,

         24  Councilman, in sitting down with Ford and asking

         25  them and the industry, the MT/DOT and Ron Sherman
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          2  and some of the groups that represent a lot of this

          3  fleet, sat down with us and with Ford and they

          4  designed a chassis that was six inches longer.

          5                 It can be done, but it involves a

          6  commitment from the manufacturer to do it, and we're

          7  making steps in that direction. By partnering with

          8  NYSERDA we already have the monies that are

          9  dedicated, we already held the RFP process. There

         10  will be a grant awarded to a manufacturer to develop

         11  such a vehicle.

         12                 Number two, the issue is really one

         13  of intent by Toyota and by Honda: Do they intend to

         14  enter this market? It's been pretty much dominated

         15  by Ford over the years. The only other taxicabs that

         16  we have on the road are some minivans, the Honda

         17  Oddessy, the Isuzu, and now we have the Toyota

         18  Sienna. I don't think they intended to come into the

         19  market. But these vehicles, you know, they may be

         20  able to be retrofitted. We need to explore that

         21  issue.

         22                 So, the answer to your question, it's

         23  a size issue.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Again, maybe

         25  not right now, but if you could just let me know
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          2  when you can go back and check it, what's the

          3  magnitude of, how far do they fall short? And I want

          4  to thank you. Your testimony has been extremely,

          5  extremely helpful, Chair Daus.

          6                 I'll just speak on the specifications

          7  point, again there I would ask you to consider the

          8  concept, like we talked about with CNG, of saying at

          9  such time as there is a hybrid that meets X

         10  specifications, then the cab companies would phase

         11  it in. And here is why: I am confident that with

         12  given the size or market, that would push the car

         13  companies to develop the vehicle. There's no demand

         14  out there for helicopters, there was no private

         15  demand for helicopters to fly straight up in the

         16  air. The Army said, anybody who can make a

         17  helicopter to fly straight up in the air, we'll buy

         18  15,000 of them. And, so, Patton Whitney goes out and

         19  makes the Ospray, and we, government, routinely put

         20  out specifications and says anybody who makes this,

         21  we're going to buy a bunch of them, and, boy, do

         22  companies respond, because there's money to be made.

         23  So, I think we could do the same thing here.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Fans of Adam Smith

         25  and Laizze-faire philosophy of letting, you know,
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          2  the whole market run itself, you know, they would

          3  probably not agree with the ultimate solution that

          4  would solve this problem, which is a mandate that

          5  fuel companies put stations that mandate that

          6  manufacturers put the vehicles on the market,

          7  mandate that yellow cab drivers and owners purchase

          8  the vehicles, that is probably the only clear-cut

          9  solution, but we know that that's not possible, and

         10  people who are in business resent all these onerous

         11  regulations, and if they want to go into business to

         12  make money where they feel that they want to, and

         13  where there's this supply and demand, I'm hoping as

         14  much as you're asking me to answer these questions,

         15  I would hope that you would recognize that on this

         16  issue too and commit to us, Council member, that we

         17  would explore hybrids being bigger and that yourself

         18  representing the constituents that you represent,

         19  Clinton Street, a lot of people take yellow cabs on

         20  Clinton Street going into Manhattan, that little

         21  pathway, and route, and we don't want them to get

         22  into small cabs. You know, when we have to achieve a

         23  balance we want to do both. If government can get

         24  the manufacturer to do both, it's a beautiful thing.

         25  And I'm optimistic that we can because we did it
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          2  already. We got Ford to agree to add six inches to

          3  its chassis and they did.

          4                 I would like to see, in a perfect

          5  world, to answer your question, a hybrid vehicle

          6  that has the size capacity to handle people that are

          7  taller and to have it roomier and more spacie. It's

          8  incredible what a difference it makes, getting into

          9  a cab with six extra inches of leg room. It's like

         10  night and day. And I know that you're committed to

         11  customer service as well, and I know that you would

         12  support that concept as well, right?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Absolutely.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Great.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you so

         16  much.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: My pleasure.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. Chair,

         19  thank you so much for your indulgence.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         21  Member Yassky.

         22                 I do think that the Taxi and

         23  Limousine Commission made progress in terms of clean

         24  air in our City, and we do want to work with you to

         25  bring this bill to fruition at some point.
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          2  Obviously, December 31st, 2003 date is an outdated

          3  date, given this bill was introduced a year ago. But

          4  nonetheless, this is a direction that we wish to

          5  head in and I, you know, I don't know that anybody

          6  will ever be able to say that New York City has a

          7  laizze-faire environment.

          8                 But we are activists --

          9                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Certainly not at

         10  the TLC.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I hope that we will

         12  remain that way.

         13                 Thank you very much for joining us

         14  this morning.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Okay. It was my

         16  pleasure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Next.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: Happy Thanksgiving

         19  to all of you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Happy Thanksgiving

         21  to all as well.

         22                 We're delighted to be joined by

         23  Charles Meara from the Port Authority this morning.

         24  I'd like to ask him to come up to testify.

         25                 And immediately after Charles Meara,
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          2  I'd like to ask the next panel to prepare to

          3  testify. That would be Ron Sherman from Metropolitan

          4  Taxicab, Taxicab Board of Trade. David Pollock from

          5  Committee for Taxi Safety, and Vincent Sapone from

          6  LMTO.

          7                 Mr. Meara, thanks for joining us.

          8                 MR. MEARA: Good morning, Mr.

          9  Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Please proceed.

         11                 MR. MEARA: Good morning, Chairman Liu

         12  and Councilman Yassky. Thank you, and members of the

         13  Committee on Transportation, for this opportunity to

         14  testify today.

         15                 My name is Charles Meara, and I'm the

         16  Assistant Director of New York Affairs for the Port

         17  Authority of New York and New Jersey.

         18                 The Port Authority has a long history

         19  of environmental sensitivity and its actions on this

         20  particular issue that is under discussion today

         21  speak to our agency's continuing commitment.

         22                 In the early 1990s, the Port

         23  Authority developed a compressed natural gas

         24  station, CNG master plan for the New York Airports,

         25  both John F. Kennedy International Airport, and
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          2  LaGuardia Airport, using a $1.5 million federal

          3  grant.

          4                 The plan at the time provided for

          5  incentive to private developers to build a CNG

          6  fueling infrastructure at the New York Airport.

          7                 This was a crucial step as an easily

          8  accessible refueling facility is essential to

          9  encourage airport tenants and the taxi fleets that

         10  serve the traveling public to convert to the use of

         11  CNG.

         12                 The first such station at JFK, a

         13  partnership between the Port Authority and KeySpan

         14  energy, was completed and has been in operation

         15  since the late 1990s. This station, which is

         16  operated by KeySpan, provides a convenient facility

         17  for use by airport tenants, taxi fleets and the

         18  general public at an easily accessible location

         19  along the Van Wyck Expressway.

         20                 The CNG fueling stations at both JFK

         21  and LaGuardia, are open to the public and have the

         22  capacity to service over 500 vehicles per day.

         23                 In addition, these stations are

         24  outfitted with fast flow systems, which means that

         25  refueling of CNG vehicles should not take any longer
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          2  to fuel than your traditional gasoline-powered

          3  vehicle.

          4                 The Port Authority also has CNG

          5  fueling stations at Newark Liberty International

          6  Airport and the Holland Tunnel.

          7                 The recently LGA CNG fueling station

          8  that Chairman Daus referred to earlier, is a timely

          9  example of our continued commitment to improve air

         10  quality at our facilities in New York City.

         11                 The CNG fueling station at LaGuardia

         12  was actually made a condition of believe with Amoco,

         13  which is now British Petroleum, to build a new

         14  gasoline station at the West End of the Airport.

         15                 BP subleased a CNG station operation

         16  to clean energy fuels which then arrange for the

         17  construction and installation of the facility.

         18                 The PA, using the aforementioned

         19  federal grant, provided a grant to install the

         20  necessary infrastructure, and this station, as the

         21  Chairman Daus indicated earlier, opened about two

         22  weeks ago, and thus far it's been highly successful.

         23                 The plan that was put together in the

         24  early nineties, also provides for the conversion of

         25  Port Authority vehicles to CNG. Costs covered
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          2  included the purchasing of new CNG vehicles and the

          3  conversion of existing vehicles to other alternative

          4  fuel vehicles, including vehicles powered by

          5  electricity.

          6                 For your information, several of our

          7  airline partners have converted their airport ramp

          8  vehicles to electric power.

          9                 The plan also provides for funding

         10  for the marketing of clean air fuels at our

         11  facilities.

         12                 The Port Authority coordinates

         13  meetings between airport tenants, local utilities,

         14  and firms specializing in the use and conversion of

         15  CNG vehicles.

         16                 For example, now that the refueling

         17  station is LaGuardia is on-line, the Port Authority

         18  will work closely with the CNG operator at

         19  LaGuardia, to encourage airport tenants and users to

         20  convert more of their fleets to CNG, as it is now

         21  readily accessible.

         22                 This will include the local hotels

         23  and rental companies, shuttle vans and buses that

         24  make frequent trips to LaGuardia.

         25                 I would also be remiss if I didn't
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          2  thank several Council members for their support in

          3  this important initiative.

          4                 Council Members Peter Vallone, Helen

          5  Sears and James Gennaro at LaGuardia, Councilman Joe

          6  Addabbo and James Sanders at JFK, have all partnered

          7  with us throughout this program for the benefit of

          8  the local community they serve.

          9                 In addition, and I'm sorry he had to

         10  leave, I wanted to thank TLC Commissioner Matthew

         11  Daus for working with our airport staff to encourage

         12  taxi fleet owners to convert to clean alternative

         13  fuel vehicles and for joining us recently at the

         14  ceremonial opening of the LaGuardia station.

         15                 Thank you for your time. And, of

         16  course, if you have any questions, I'd be happy to

         17  answer them.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for your

         19  testimony this morning. We've been joined by Council

         20  Member Oliver Koppell, a member of the

         21  Transportation Committee.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I just want to

         23  thank you and the Port for what I think is an

         24  enormous step forward and a real commitment cleaner

         25  air, and showing that you don't have to force the
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          2  impossible to do it, but you create conditions in

          3  which people, it will make sense for them to do the

          4  right thing. So, I just want to thank you so much.

          5                 MR. MEARA: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Are there any plans

          7  to build additional CNG stations?

          8                 MR. MEARA: Plans would be too strong

          9  a word. But we're looking at various facilities that

         10  we operate in the City and in New Jersey for other

         11  opportunities.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Would it have been

         13  possible to build CNG stations without the federal

         14  grants?s.

         15                 MR. MEARA: Perhaps the Council would

         16  have given us a grant.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         18                 At this point I'd like to ask the

         19  next panel to join us at the witness table. Ron

         20  Sherman, David Pollack and Vincent Sapone.

         21                 And immediately after this panel I'd

         22  like to ask Juliet Burdelski and Mark Caserta to

         23  testify. And I am expecting that this hearing will

         24  be over by 12 noon.

         25                 Good morning, gentlemen.
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          2                 Would you like to go first, Mr.

          3  Sapone?

          4                 MR. SAPONE: Well, they choose me to

          5  go first, so I might as well.

          6                 Good morning, Chairman, Commissioner.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning.

          8                 MR. SAPONE: I'm a very blunt guy, and

          9  I normally just speak my mind, which I think

         10  everyone should. You know, it's great to have clean

         11  air, I'm not against it. But no one talks about the

         12  cost, the time that these cab drivers will have to

         13  go through to do this.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Sapone, could

         15  you state your name and affiliation for the record?

         16                 MR. SAPONE: I'm sorry. My name is

         17  Vincent Sapone, Managing Director of the League of

         18  Mutual Taxi Owners in Manhattan. We have

         19  approximately 3,400 members. Mostly owner/drivers,

         20  that own one medallion and drive for a living.

         21                 As far as I'm concerned the taxi

         22  industry has been beaten over the head constantly.

         23                 You know, you got 40, 50,000 livery

         24  cars out there, you've got thousands of City cars

         25  out there, that don't have natural gas. Well, let's
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          2  get the cabs to do it. That's the way it seems to

          3  me. It's a great idea to have clean air, don't get

          4  me wrong, what's going to happen here is that

          5  airports and hotels, since the gypsies are taking

          6  over anyway, what's going to happen is a guy has got

          7  tanks in his trunk, he's going to get into gypsy or

          8  livery car and the cab driver is not going to have

          9  the long haul.

         10                 If a cab driver goes to Connecticut

         11  or Jersey, which they often do, where they going to

         12  stop for this natural gas? It's a great idea but I

         13  don't know how it can work. You know, it's just

         14  impossible.

         15                 I can't keep putting burden, or the

         16  City should stop putting burden on cab drivers.

         17  Hello, am I on?

         18                 Let the City itself maintain their

         19  fleet with natural gas. If you want to pick on

         20  someone, pick on someone that breaks the law in this

         21  City, that's the gypsies out there, driving with

         22  used cabs that are ten, 15 years old. Pick on them.

         23  Don't pick on the hard man that invests his money to

         24  try to make a living and gives fine transportation

         25  to the citizens and the tourists of this City.
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          2                 You know, maybe I'm speaking here a

          3  little different, but I think you all understand

          4  where I'm coming from. And it's time that someone

          5  spoke a little different. I'm not going to pet

          6  anybody, okay? Because that's not my style. I

          7  appreciate your efforts, I appreciate your efforts,

          8  but the bottom line is something's got to be done.

          9                 First of all, on the hybird (sic),

         10  whatever the car's name is, hybrid, how much is this

         11  going to cost? Who's going to pay for it? Is the cab

         12  owner going to pay for this? You know, it's been

         13  eight years since we got an increase. Every other

         14  city, every other state has gotten a fair increase,

         15  every other city, every other state has got a gas

         16  surcharge, now you guys want to put something else

         17  on this.

         18                 I said enough. I'll keep my big mouth

         19  shut. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You have made your

         21  position clear.

         22                 Welcome, Mr. Sherman.

         23                 MR. SHERMAN: Good morning, Chairman

         24  Liu. Good morning, Chairman Liu, members of the

         25  Transportation Committee. My name is Ron Sherman, I
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          2  am President of Metropolitan Taxicab Board of Trade,

          3  which represents 12 yellow taxicab fleets and

          4  approximately 20 percent of the industry.

          5                 In 1998 the TLC mandated that all

          6  fleets use compressed natural gas vehicles as their

          7  standby vehicles.

          8                 We purchase hundreds of CNG vehicles

          9  and one fleet even installed a $1 million fueling

         10  station which represents an enormous commitment we

         11  made to this effort.

         12                 I would first like to outline for the

         13  City Council our experience with this ultimately

         14  failed CNG mandate, which concludes that drivers are

         15  reluctant -- that owners are reluctant to purchase

         16  these vehicles, and drivers are reluctant to use

         17  these vehicles for the following reasons:

         18                 There are very fuel stations, and

         19  even fewer 24-hour stations, making refueling time

         20  consuming and inconvenient.

         21                 There are no stations out there that

         22  collect cash or are available for retail and drivers

         23  cannot go and fuel their cars up unless they are

         24  trained to do that.

         25                 Drivers have found the fuel tanks to
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          2  be inadequate, particularly in sustaining

          3  long-distance trips, which have in many cases left

          4  drivers and passengers stranded with an empty tank.

          5                 There is little room for luggage in

          6  the trunks due to the size of the CNG tanks, making

          7  airport and hotel trips very difficult and often

          8  impossible.

          9                 Dedicated mechanics are required to

         10  work on these cars and the expensive parts are not

         11  readily available, considerably increasing the

         12  maintenance of the already more expensive vehicles.

         13                 A 200-car fleet that wishes to

         14  convert all of its cars to CNG would have to spend

         15  millions of dollars to make the garage CNG-ready.

         16                 To my knowledge, there is no

         17  alternative fuel vehicle, aside from the CNG Crown

         18  Victorias that meets the strict TLC vehicle

         19  standards, making the mandate proposed under Intro.

         20  287 impossible to comply with.

         21                 Even if such a car existed, the

         22  timing could not be more wrong. It has been seven

         23  and a half years since we have had a fare increase

         24  during which time owner expenses have increased 37

         25  percent. Those expenses include the costlier stretch
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          2  Ford Crown Victorias which feature more leg room for

          3  passenger comfort. This is hardly an opportune time

          4  for owners to sink millions of dollars into new

          5  initiatives.

          6                 But that is only half the problem.

          7  The City plans to auction off 900 medallions over

          8  the next three years which is expected to generate

          9  $210 million in much-needed revenue to the City of

         10  New York. However, this will most likely not be the

         11  case if medallion owners are made to purchase

         12  alternative fuel vehicles which nave not been prove

         13  to handle the tough streets of New York City.

         14                 The taxi industry made a huge

         15  commitment to CNG and it failed. Mandating

         16  alternative fuel vehicles, including

         17  electric-hybrids will only work when either the

         18  market provides a reliable, cost-effective vehicle,

         19  or when the City of New York dedicates the necessary

         20  funds to make such an initiative possible.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         23                 Mr. Pollack.

         24                 MR. POLLACK: Good morning. My name is

         25  David Pollack. Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Council
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          2  members. I'm here to testify on behalf of the

          3  Committee for Taxi Safety, an association that

          4  represents 2,500 taxi medallion owners and leasers,

          5  and the 5,000 men and women who drive their taxis.

          6                 We commend the Council members for

          7  the new proposed legislation. Fuel alternative

          8  vehicles in New York City and in the taxi industry

          9  are certainly a positive step forward towards less

         10  imported energy and cleaner air which statistically

         11  adds years to all of our lives.

         12                 However, the present infrastructure

         13  is in adequate to supply CNG to approximately 3,000

         14  yellow taxis that would need to have fuel

         15  alternatives next year, and 3,000 each additional

         16  year until every New York City taxi is a fuel

         17  alternative vehicle.

         18                 There are approximately 20 CNG

         19  stations in New York City, 14 of them are public.

         20  Many are closed on weekends and evenings. The new

         21  CNG pump at LaGuardia Airport is the first

         22  public/private partnership of its type in New York

         23  City. It is open 24 hours, seven days a week, but it

         24  is still only one pump. Hopefully we will see more

         25  of this kind of CNG pump throughout the City over

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  the next few years.

          3                 Additionally, at this time, there is

          4  only one car dealer with certified mechanics to work

          5  on these new engines. Note that KeySpan spent ten

          6  years and $20 million to convert their fleet of

          7  1,300 to alternative CNG fuel.

          8                 Today hybrid vehicles get better gas

          9  mileage than CNG vehicles. The problem is that no

         10  hybrid full-size vehicle exists at this time.

         11                 Yesterday I attended a press

         12  conference at City Hall, the Chrysler gifted the

         13  City of New York 352 electric carts for use in parks

         14  and the like. If the New York City yellow taxi

         15  industry was gifted 12,187 fuel alternative vehicles

         16  today, the program simply would not work and our

         17  industry would be destroyed.

         18                 This excellent idea is ahead of its

         19  time, and we hope this is in front of you in the

         20  near future when it is practical for fuel

         21  alternative taxis to become a logical reality.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, you're saying

         24  that the taxi industry was given the vehicles, the

         25  clean alternative fuel vehicles, that it still
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          2  wouldn't work?

          3                 MR. POLLACK: That is correct. As

          4  stated by the Chairman prior and my peers next to

          5  me, there is just a total lack of facilities to fill

          6  these up.

          7                 Now, the Port Authority did a great

          8  thing with their one pump, although it did take them

          9  ten years, and they did get a $1.5 million grant.

         10  When you go out to LaGuardia Airport and you can see

         11  it working, you know, there are so many of the gas

         12  stations in New York City that have convenience

         13  stores, and are really consumer friendly, we need

         14  more of those throughout the City to have CNG gas

         15  pumps, or we need that hybrid vehicle.

         16                 MR. SHERMAN: I would just like to add

         17  a garage comment to that. What you need to realize

         18  is that a yellow taxicab runs 24 hours a day, 365

         19  days a year. The fueling issue is one issue, and

         20  when David says that if you gave us the vehicles,

         21  the industry would still not be able to function,

         22  it's because last year my fleet alone did 20 million

         23  miles on New York City streets. These vehicles are

         24  under conditions that no other industry is put on.

         25  You need a very strong vehicle, you need -- New
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          2  Yorkers need a safe vehicle, they need a vehicle

          3  that is comfortable, and any other vehicle that

          4  we've tried in the past, including vans, we've

          5  tested every vehicle out there. There have been

          6  pilot programs, and no other vehicle has been able

          7  to hold up on the streets of New York City. So

          8  that's why if you were given a vehicle, for

          9  instance, we were granted in 1998 a van, truck, to

         10  run as a taxicab, that van fell apart in eight

         11  months on New York City streets. So, it's not only

         12  the issue of fueling, it's the issue of the vehicles

         13  to be able to withstand the streets of New York

         14  City, and also the drivers to be willing to drive

         15  the vehicles to service the public.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Questions from

         17  Council Member Yassky.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very

         19  much, Chair Liu.

         20                 I want to thank the panel for your

         21  comments here. And particularly, Mr. Sapone, I

         22  appreciate your point, New York is a place where

         23  people say what they think, it's one of the reasons

         24  it's a great City.

         25                 All three of you focused on the
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          2  fueling issue, and I understand the issue that

          3  you're raising, and I agree with you that you cannot

          4  expect taxicabs to operate unless they have a place

          5  to get fuel. That's clear. Let me ask, and I'll ask

          6  Mr. Sherman, 20,000 -- 20 percent of the industry

          7  you said is members of the Metropolitan Taxicab

          8  Board of Trade, I'll ask you, but if anyone else

          9  wants to answer, please feel free, the question I

         10  asked before to Chair Daus, how many fueling

         11  stations in Manhattan would be required for a

         12  thousand yellow cabs?

         13                 MR. SHERMAN: In our case we would,

         14  and we have, put the fueling station in our fleet.

         15  We, the drivers didn't want to spend the extra hour

         16  a day, nor were they trained, to fuel it up, and

         17  they didn't have the credit card or the credit to

         18  get it, so we would use the company's credit for

         19  them to fuel up. We would actually send our gas man

         20  over and fuel it for the next shift, all right, and

         21  the drivers wouldn't wait for the vehicles.

         22                 There's so many more issues out there

         23  than just fueling.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, I

         25  understand. You have raised the trunks, there are
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          2  issues raised. Just on the fueling, the problem, as

          3  I get it, is the driver is driving around all day,

          4  doesn't want to have to go back to Sunnyside or back

          5  to wherever it is to get the fuel up in the middle

          6  of a shift, indeed if I get it, often times drivers

          7  or groups of drivers will have the vehicle for three

          8  days or a week or a longer period of time than just

          9  12 hours, out away from the home base, so they need

         10  places to fuel up.

         11                 How many would have to be out there?

         12                 MR. SHERMAN: If I may? Has anybody

         13  ever run out of gasoline? Do we ever hear of anyone

         14  running?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes.

         16                 MR. SHERMAN: Councilman Yassky ran

         17  out of gasoline. It's a problem.

         18                 Now, if you're driving a yellow

         19  taxicab for a living, and you may get a fare that

         20  wants to go out of town, or you may be in a

         21  situation where you're running out of CNG,

         22  especially today much faster than you would have

         23  gasoline, where do you gas up?

         24                 So, not to be disrespectful, but if

         25  you're asking how many gas stations do you need for
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          2  1,000 yellow cabs, my answer would be every gas

          3  station in New York City should have CNG to support

          4  that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, wait. I

          6  don't want to be combative, but that's plainly not

          7  realistic.

          8                 MR. SHERMAN: Then what is realistic?

          9  Let me turn the tables. What is realistic? I don't

         10  know the answer to that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: For 1,000

         12  cabs, I would think that if there were 30 fueling

         13  stations spread throughout Manhattan.

         14                 MR. SHERMAN: Councilman, you asked me

         15  the question, I'm trying to answer that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm prepared

         17  to believe that's wrong, I just would like to know

         18  what you think the right answer is.

         19                 MR. SHERMAN: Fueling is not the

         20  issue, it's the vehicle. If you had a vehicle,

         21  whatever it was, that was clean air, all right?

         22  We're all for clean air. I have two teenage

         23  daughters, my oldest daughter has asthma. I'm for

         24  clean air as much as you are, okay? You cannot, if

         25  you solve the fueling problem, you do not have a
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          2  vehicle that can work as a New York City taxicab.

          3  Now, the next question is, if you had a vehicle that

          4  could work as a New York City taxicab, and you had

          5  fueling stations, all right, we would be for this,

          6  as we have in the past, and we are a non-subsidized

          7  industry, we've paid money out of our pockets to

          8  test these vehicles, to try and go forward with CNG

          9  and other types of vehicles, there's nothing that

         10  exists out there. The Ford Crown Victoria will not

         11  be produced after this model year. If you ordered a

         12  Ford Crown Victoria today, which is the only vehicle

         13  that can be approved and passed and run on the New

         14  York City streets as a taxicab, you could not get it

         15  through the dealer within the next six months.

         16  There's no parts available, there's no mechanics

         17  that can service these vehicles, the drivers are

         18  reluctant to use them. If all those things were

         19  solved, which is a big problem, then we can go

         20  forward. But with all due respect, the issue is not

         21  just fueling.

         22                 When the Crown Victoria came out and

         23  we thought the dedicated Crown Vic was going to be

         24  the vehicle that could work, all right, then fueling

         25  became the issue, and the fueling station did not
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          2  step up to the plate.

          3                 But that's not the issue anymore. We

          4  need to solve the whole problem.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I understand

          6  that you've raised different issues. I would like to

          7  address them in turn. And I will address them in

          8  turn, but if I can just get an answer from you on

          9  fueling? If the other problems were solved, how many

         10  fueling stations would you need out there for this

         11  to be viable? If there was a car that could

         12  withstand the rigors, of CNG cars that could

         13  withstand the rigors of New York City, and there

         14  obviously is since there are 100 out there driving

         15  around, and there were mechanics, so put the

         16  maintenance issue aside, how many fueling stations

         17  would you need?

         18                 MR. SHERMAN: In a perfect world, if

         19  we had all those things solved, there's three

         20  representatives of the industry, if you ask all

         21  three of us I think you'll get a different answer.

         22  The answer to my association is we have fleets, so

         23  we have our own garages, each fleet would need one.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

         25                 MR. SHERMAN: Our drivers go out and
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          2  they work a 12-hour shift, if they could last the

          3  full 12 hours and come back and they could refuel

          4  here, right at a garage.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you. I

          6  appreciate your answer.

          7                 Mr. Pollack, what would your answer

          8  be?

          9                 Oh, go ahead.

         10                 MR. SAPONE: I have a great

         11  suggestion.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

         13                 MR. SAPONE: I think half of the

         14  transportation council here should apply for a hack

         15  license, okay? And we will find natural gas -- I'm

         16  not being facetious, because that's the only way

         17  you're going to learn what's going on, by doing it

         18  yourself. We will find natural gas cars. I suggest

         19  you drive for three months, with no income other

         20  than fares, and you will see the problems about

         21  filling up, about not getting enough luggage in the

         22  trunk, giving more business deliveries in gypsies.

         23  And believe me, I'm not being facetious. And taking

         24  trips maybe to Atlantic City and breaking down on

         25  the Turnpike with no fuel or Connecticut. I think

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  that's the only way, when someone has an idea and he

          3  wants it to work, you should go hands-on and do the

          4  job as the guy who is complaining about it that it

          5  can't work. I think then you'll have your answer.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I also would like to

          8  ask the people at the witness table, just simply

          9  answer the question posed by the Council Member.

         10                 MR. SAPONE: Sorry about that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'll just ask

         12  the one last -- I'm sorry, Mr. Pollack, did you want

         13  to say something?

         14                 MR. POLLACK: Yes. The bill was

         15  written, and it says alternative fuels, and I think

         16  it's very clear by everyone's testimony, and we all

         17  simply know that there's one alternative fuel at

         18  this time. We want the hybrid, there's no vehicles.

         19  We want the CNG, that's around, but you know

         20  something? It's not going to be around after 2005.

         21  So, are we beating a dead horse? Should we table

         22  this for another year and a half? I mean, it just

         23  seems evident that we're going back and forth, and

         24  it doesn't work right now, and I hate to be

         25  idealistic and I know it's not a perfect world. And
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          2  I don't know the real answer, and I don't know if

          3  it's a fair question. How many stations do you need

          4  for 1,000 CNG vehicles since they're -- well, you

          5  said if the vehicle was there and if the mechanics

          6  were there and if that was -- I can't say, that's

          7  the truth.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, fair

          9  enough. Well, not fair enough, but I understand that

         10  you don't want to say.

         11                 MR. POLLACK: No. My comment before

         12  was every gasoline station, we live in a new

         13  millennium and if you want an answer in numbers,

         14  that's my answer - every gasoline station should

         15  have it available to the public and the private

         16  sector.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. I'll

         18  just ask one last question. And turning to hybrids.

         19  There's two ways that we could, under the present

         20  technology, and sure, maybe there will be hydrogen

         21  cars, you know, ten years, 15 years from now, but I

         22  think we have an obligation to our citizens to do

         23  something that we can start putting into effect

         24  sooner and not wait for the ever receding next, you

         25  know, future of whatever the proposed next
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          2  technology is, on hybrids, and as we talked about

          3  with Chair Daus, there is not today a hybrid on the

          4  market that meets specifications. If there was,

          5  would you have a problem with converting to hybrids?

          6                 MR. POLLACK: If I may?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes.

          8                 MR. POLLACK: If the cost is offset

          9  either by grants, as the Port Authority received for

         10  one pump, $1.5 million, if we were given those

         11  vehicles, if we were granted funds to purchase those

         12  vehicles, or if we were subsidized in any way, the

         13  Committee for Taxi Safety would be for it 100

         14  percent.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Let's say it

         16  was new medallions, if the cost of a new medallion

         17  will reduce significantly, if I get it, you're

         18  saying that the ones that are going to be sold are

         19  about 230,000; is that the idea, a piece?

         20                 MR. POLLACK: I'm not talking about a

         21  sale at all. All I'm talking about is the vehicle

         22  itself.

         23                 You know, I didn't know medallion

         24  prices, how that got into the conversation. But as

         25  far as price of the vehicle --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, here is

          3  what I'm saying. People are about to pay $230,000

          4  for a brand new medallion, I guess if the car was a

          5  little more expensive, then instead they would pay

          6  215 or something like that; isn't that right?

          7                 MR. POLLACK: Frankly, the price of

          8  the medallion and the price of the vehicle are two

          9  separate issues.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Does the price

         11  of the vehicle effect the price of the medallion?

         12                 MR. POLLACK: If you tell people they

         13  have to buy a vehicle that's $50,000, I think it

         14  would have an effect, an adverse effect.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, thank

         16  you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         18                 We've been also joined by Council

         19  Member James Sanders from Queens, and Council Member

         20  Helen Sears from Queens.

         21                 I have a question from Council Member

         22  Sanders.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         24  Chairman Liu. I truly hope that you feel better

         25  soon, sir.
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          2                 Good morning, gentlemen. Good

          3  morning. I am looking at this proposal and I hear

          4  what you're saying about a grant from the federal

          5  government, state, or someone to help offset these

          6  expenses. Have you gentlemen sought a grant from any

          7  of these agencies, or have we even sought any grants

          8  on this issue?

          9                 MR. SHERMAN: In 1998 when it was

         10  mandated by the TLC to run ten percent of the fleet

         11  under CNG, NYSERDA was offering grants, but from

         12  what I understand is all of those grants have been

         13  dried up to convert.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: It might be

         15  good. In fact, the energy bill is coming out of the

         16  federal government, is going to be rather good on

         17  the issue of alternative energy or alternative

         18  supplies, bad on certain other things, of course,

         19  but good for our purposes.

         20                 Gentlemen, it may be a good thing to

         21  redouble your efforts, because I believe that money

         22  is going to exist to do something of these things,

         23  and the City Council, of course, has an obligation

         24  to help you in this, if we are going to try to

         25  mandate certain things, then we should, of course,
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          2  be prepared to help in this.

          3                 As Chair of Economic Development, I'm

          4  concerned that we don't cut our own throats in doing

          5  well, but I do believe that there is a way of doing

          6  both, and we need to find it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          8  Member Sanders.

          9                 A question from Council Member

         10  Koppell.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

         12  you represent fleet owners, where do those fleet

         13  cabs generally gas up?

         14                 MR. SHERMAN: Generally at the fleets

         15  themselves or sometimes they will refuel during

         16  their shift.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But mostly

         18  they gas up at the garage, right?

         19                 MR. SHERMAN: Yes, sir.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, as far as

         21  fueling is concerned, the need to have these

         22  stations is really what you might call on an

         23  emergency basis or an interim basis, not on a

         24  regular basis, you'd want those fueling stops to be

         25  there so that you wouldn't run out of gas if for
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          2  some reason or other you couldn't get back to the

          3  garage?

          4                 MR. SHERMAN: Correct, Councilman.

          5                 As I testified before, the fueling to

          6  our segment, is not as critical if there was a

          7  vehicle that could make it a full shift and hold up

          8  on the streets of New York City and not deter the

          9  driver, which is also our customer, don't forget, to

         10  drive it, and also it wouldn't deter him or her to

         11  be able to pick up passengers on New York City

         12  streets so they would make the same living as

         13  somebody that wasn't driving a non-CNG vehicle.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So from your

         15  point of view, the problem is really not so much the

         16  fueling stations, although that is an issue, but the

         17  biggest problem is you don't have an appropriate

         18  vehicle.

         19                 MR. SHERMAN: Well, as far as the

         20  fueling issue, it is a problem in the fact that I

         21  would have to, in my facility alone it would

         22  probably cost about $5 million to upgrade the

         23  equipment to have it. If we're talking about CNG

         24  only. And besides that, my shops, my mechanics, we

         25  went through all this when we already paid a half a
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          2  million dollars to buy the vehicles.

          3                 One of my colleagues, which was two

          4  blocks away, put in a million dollar station. This

          5  was back in '98, but the cost issue would be a

          6  problem, but if there was a way that we could afford

          7  or get grants, as Councilman Sanders recommends us

          8  looking into, to put them in our fleets, then the

          9  fueling wouldn't be our major issue.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And what

         11  happened after '98? Why was it abandoned?

         12                 MR. SHERMAN: It was abandoned because

         13  it was a failure. On all the points that I made in

         14  my speech, which I'll go over because some of the

         15  Council people were not here, there was a tremendous

         16  reluctance from drivers to driver them.

         17                 A CNG car does not have a trunk, a

         18  taxi without being able to store luggage really

         19  didn't make much sense.

         20                 The vehicle would not make it a full

         21  shift, so the driver would have to come back in the

         22  middle of the shift to gas the car.

         23                 The drivers that we gave our company

         24  credit card to that we got from Con Ed, or I forget

         25  the other outfit, there was only two stations, two
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          2  companies that you can go to, we would give them

          3  cards during the shift to go to do it, when they

          4  went to gas them up, there would be an inadequate

          5  fueling station there. They wouldn't have the proper

          6  pressure to put the fuel into the vehicles. It would

          7  take them approximately an hour to get it done at

          8  times.

          9                 There were issues on getting the part

         10  from Ford because it was a special vehicle, there

         11  was an inability of parts. The parts would break

         12  down. The cars would break down more. And we

         13  basically -- the vehicles that we purchased, just in

         14  my fleet, the $500,000 worth of cars that we

         15  purchased, we ran them through the lifecycle of the

         16  vehicle, and we kept them going anyway, just to make

         17  sure that we went through the pilot program so we

         18  would have complete data. When those vehicles were

         19  finished, they had approximately, and I can get you

         20  the exact figures, but they had less mileage on

         21  them, at the end of the lifecycle of the vehicle,

         22  than a normal one of our cars does in one year

         23  because we couldn't get drivers to drive them.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I understand.

         25                 Just one last question on the fueling
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          2  issue. Who is your largest member, the largest

          3  fleet?

          4                 MR. POLLACK: Our largest member is an

          5  outfit by the name of Team Systems.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: What?

          7                 MR. POLLACK: Team systems.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And how many

          9  cabs do they have, do you know?

         10                 MR. POLLACK: I don't know the exact

         11  number.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: How many

         13  garages do they have?

         14                 MR. POLLACK: One garage.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. I do

         16  want to say this, that your reluctance, the

         17  reluctance of this panel to indicate how many

         18  fueling stations are needed really is kind of

         19  contradicted by the evidence that most of the

         20  fueling is done at the garage, at least for one.

         21                 What that suggests to me is that for

         22  the independent drivers, if you had a sufficient

         23  number of stations, but not necessarily dozens and

         24  dozens, it would basically serve their needs. And I

         25  can understand you need a geographic dispersion. I
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          2  might suggest, by the way, since I do drive a car in

          3  Manhattan, that there are very few gas stations in

          4  Manhattan as it is, right now, for everybody,

          5  including cabs. So we're not talking about hundreds

          6  of stations, because there are not hundreds of

          7  stations in Manhattan. I don't even know if there

          8  are dozens. There are relatively few. I know I, as I

          9  said, I drive in Manhattan, and you drive in

         10  Manhattan, and you know what I'm saying is so. So,

         11  frankly, I think you shouldn't try and hide behind

         12  that to be honest with you.

         13                 Because even if you said every

         14  station in Manhattan, it would be that many

         15  stations.

         16                 MR. POLLACK: That's what I said,

         17  every station should have it. But, you know, we're

         18  speaking about garages, and the point is that Mr.

         19  Sherman's association only represents 20 percent of

         20  the entire industry. It's not -- you know, where

         21  does the other 80 percent gas up if 20 percent is

         22  going to the garages?

         23                 MR. SAPONE: You make a lot of sense

         24  but I would say people who live in the outskirts of

         25  Midtown Manhattan normally gas up in their local gas
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          2  stations in the neighborhood. I don't think too many

          3  one of us guys here gas up in Manhattan. And also, I

          4  represent drivers, they take the car home. We don't

          5  have a garage, you know, so keep that in mind. Thank

          6  you, sir.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          8                 A question from Council Member Sears.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Mr. Chair,

         10  more than anything, I wanted to apologize to you and

         11  this panel, to Mr. Sherman and the other fine

         12  gentlemen here, of being torn between two or three

         13  committee hearings at the same time. So, I apologize

         14  that I'm walking away, but I am very interested in

         15  this issue, and I'm sure I will hear more from the

         16  industry itself as I take my leave from you, sir. I

         17  apologize.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair.

         20                 Good morning. When the program was

         21  abandoned in 1998, was it a pilot program, and was

         22  it confined to a very specific area? Because I liked

         23  to think of the operations as being in five

         24  boroughs.

         25                 MR. SHERMAN: It was mandated in 1998,
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          2  and it was mandated in, in our case, in every fleet

          3  we represent, which is four of the five boroughs,

          4  okay? And it was in 1998 that it was mandated. It

          5  was made, by rule-making at the TLC, it was not law,

          6  and it was -- I don't know the exact date but it was

          7  cancelled due to it failed.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: How long was it

          9  in operation to determine that it was a failure?

         10                 MR. SHERMAN: Approximately five

         11  years.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

         13                 MR. SHERMAN: Approximately five

         14  years, and at an expenditure of millions of dollars

         15  for the industry, all right, that once again, I'm

         16  just going to repeat that we're a non-subsidized

         17  industry.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: No, I

         19  understand that. Was it determined that it was a

         20  failure because the men didn't, weren't earning

         21  enough money? You weren't able to make these airport

         22  trips that are so essential? What was the criteria

         23  to determine that it didn't work?

         24                 MR. SHERMAN: All the issues that were

         25  discussed here were basically the determination that
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          2  it didn't work.

          3                 The major issues, besides the driver

          4  reluctance, it was the vehicle itself, even though

          5  the Crown Vic works as a taxicab, the converted, the

          6  CNG Crown Vic had tremendous maintenance and

          7  mechanical issues, as far as parts availability,

          8  mechanics being able to work on them, so on and so

          9  forth. There were problems with the tanks

         10  themselves. There were problems with fueling them,

         11  there were problems with knowing if, if the tanks

         12  were full. A car would go into a station, fuel up,

         13  and then an hour later we would get a phone call

         14  that we had to send out tow truck out to pick up the

         15  driver because the car ran out of gas.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Has the

         17  technology changed since it was mandated in 1998

         18  today in 2003, that might alleviate some of those

         19  problems? I mean, I don't know, that's why I'm

         20  asking.

         21                 MR. SHERMAN: No. You can still

         22  currently order the same vehicle. There's only one

         23  vehicle that passes the regs of the Taxi and

         24  Limousine Commission. Ford Motor Company is

         25  discontinuing that vehicle this year due to many of
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          2  these issues, and if you ordered that vehicle, as I

          3  said before, you could not get one within six

          4  months, and I don't even know if they're really

          5  producing it, although say they're producing it this

          6  year, I don't know, really know if you can get one

          7  even if you did order it. And as of next year you

          8  definitely could not get that vehicle.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So then to

         10  actually see whether you could do something without

         11  having the equipment to do it, is a big problem.

         12                 MR. SHERMAN: It's a tremendous

         13  problem. It's a tremendous problem.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Would a pilot

         15  program, if vehicles were obtained, would a pilot

         16  program help to determine one way or another whether

         17  this is feasible in the City of New York.

         18                 MR. SHERMAN: As Councilman Yassky

         19  said before, if in a perfect world we could solve

         20  the vehicle issue, the fueling issues, and the cost

         21  issues, and we had all those available, I would

         22  recommend that whatever was passed we would do it as

         23  a pilot program, and assess it, before we make it

         24  law, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.
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          2                 MR. SHERMAN: And I would be willing,

          3  my fleet personally, I can't speak for the

          4  Association, I'd have to go back to the Board and

          5  speak to my colleagues, but we would be happy to

          6  test whatever vehicles became available in the

          7  future, and Councilman Yassky, we are looking

          8  forward to working with you in the area going

          9  forward. Don't feel like the industry is against

         10  clean air, as we said before, it's just that there's

         11  too many hurdles right now that need to be addressed

         12  before something is mandated either at the Taxi and

         13  Limousine Commission, again, which cost the industry

         14  millions and was a complete failure, or mandated by

         15  law. But that doesn't say that we're not here to

         16  work with you as an industry to test.

         17                 We have been involved, all of our

         18  associations have been involved in numerous pilot

         19  programs from the TLC, all right, to test, you know,

         20  numerous products to make the vehicle as safe as it

         21  is today, to stretch the vehicle. Just to get Ford

         22  to stretch the vehicle 12, six inches, all right, we

         23  were working on that program since 1982 when the

         24  checker went out of business to try and bring a

         25  roomier cab for New York City.

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 So, that's why we're frustrated on

          3  this end, and when you say, like, can't you get

          4  Ford? You have 13,000 vehicles out there - 13,000

          5  vehicles to Ford Motor Company or to Toyota or

          6  General Motors is not worth their retooling cost to

          7  do anything, all right? But whatever we can do as an

          8  industry and work with the City Council to help

          9  improve the vehicle as far as emissions, safety for

         10  our drivers, for our customers, which are the

         11  drivers and the people that use our services on the

         12  streets of New York City, that's what we do. We own

         13  medallions, but it's just a right to service the

         14  public and we're mandated, and there's strict rules.

         15  These vehicles are not tested -- they're tested

         16  three times a year at the Taxi and Limousine

         17  Commission where they go through, new vehicles have

         18  a hard time getting through, you know, how strict

         19  the rules are, all right? Besides the State

         20  inspections, we are tested, as far as emissions,

         21  four times a year, and we're only keep the car on

         22  the road for three years. So, we are cleaner than

         23  we've ever been before. The vehicle is larger than

         24  it's ever been before. So, when we replace the

         25  vehicle, the target should be as good a vehicle as
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          2  we have now, that reduces pollutants.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. One quick

          6  follow-up. We need to move on.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I never

          8  thought I would say this because I've been a great

          9  advocate if the American automobile industry, I've

         10  never owned a foreign car, but I am disgusted,

         11  frankly, with the American automobile industry. The

         12  hybrid technology has been put off again, I read it

         13  in the newspaper the other day. They're obviously

         14  not cooperating with you, and I would suggest that

         15  you make some contacts with the Japanese industry. I

         16  never thought I'd say that, but I'm saying it now,

         17  because they seem more willing to experiment and to

         18  deal with new technologies.

         19                 It's Toyota, I believe, or certainly

         20  Japanese, who are putting the hybrid cars on our

         21  streets, not for GM or Chrysler. And I would suggest

         22  to the taxi industry here in New York that you

         23  contact the Japanese industry. Maybe Honda, which

         24  has been extremely experimental and forward looking,

         25  or Toyota, any of them, because maybe they would
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          2  cooperate with you. I'm absolutely disgusted with

          3  the American automobile industry, not only on this

          4  issue, but generally on assuming responsibilities

          5  for new technologies and dealing with this emissions

          6  issue, which is a critical issue in this City and

          7  all over this country, all over the world, in fact.

          8                 So, I understand what you're saying

          9  and you've raised good objections to implementing

         10  this like on January 1st, but in the longrun we've

         11  got to do it.

         12                 And as I said before, the American

         13  industry is not cooperating, I urge you to contact

         14  the Japanese.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         16  Gentlemen, thank you for your important input this

         17  morning.

         18                 MR. POLLACK: Thank you, Council

         19  members.

         20                 MR. SHERMAN: Thank you.

         21                 MR. SAPONE: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: At this point I'd

         23  like to ask the next panel to come up. Juliet

         24  Burdelski and Mark Caserta. Immediately after I'd

         25  like to invite Todd Fronckowink, Manager at Ford
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          2  Motor Company to testify.

          3                 Ms. Burdelski, please proceed.

          4                 MR. CASERTA: Actually, I'm going to

          5  go first, I'm her set-up man.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Go ahead.

          7                 MR. CASERTA: My name is Mark Caserta,

          8  the New York League of Conservation Voters. I'm

          9  going to summarize because I know you're a little

         10  short in time. I want to begin by giving context to

         11  NYLCV's support for 287. Over the past year, and

         12  we've been working with the Coalition of

         13  Environmental Organizations, to find ways to reduce

         14  the air pollution in New York City. It includes

         15  Environmental Defense, Natural Resources Defense

         16  Council, INFORM, which Juliet represents, American

         17  Lung Association, and the Urban Environmental Law

         18  Center.

         19                 Our efforts include:  Working with

         20  the federal government to set up a pilot program to

         21  reduce emissions for ferries; working to pass Intro.

         22  191-A, reduce emissions from construction vehicles

         23  at Ground Zero and beyond; and I would encourage you

         24  to support this bill, as well, if you have not, sign

         25  onto it; and advocating for the passage of Local Law
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          2  51, the medallion sale; and, finally, working with

          3  the City Council and the Department of Education to

          4  reduce pollution from school buses, which is an

          5  issue that affects our children.

          6                 In the coming year we will be working

          7  to improve Local Law 6, which governs the City's

          8  vehicle purchasing practices and we'd like to

          9  require the City to purchase more cleaner vehicles.

         10                 At the Coalition we support 287, not

         11  because we like to pick on taxicab owners or

         12  drivers, or disliked taxicabs, New York City's air

         13  is incredibly dirty, and the serious effects can be

         14  felt in every Council district in the City.

         15                 A recent report that was mentioned

         16  found that 1 million New Yorkers are affected by

         17  asthma. New York City has the highest asthma

         18  mortality rate of any city in the country.

         19                 And air pollution costs New York City

         20  millions of dollars every year. In 2000, there were

         21  almost 27,000 asthma-related hospitalizations, in

         22  New York City it cost $242 million in medical

         23  expenses, over 72 percent of which is paid for by

         24  Medicaid and Medicare. So, it's a very serious issue

         25  financially for the City as well.
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          2                 Again, the City's 12,000 yellow cabs

          3  are a part of the picture, again, not the only part,

          4  and we're certainly looking to the City to purchase

          5  more clean air vehicles, and especially those

          6  garbage trucks.

          7                 So, just some comments on the bill,

          8  obviously we talked about the implementation date is

          9  not going to work, it's coming up in about a month.

         10  And all of the objections to the bill certainly make

         11  sense. We'd like to work through them. I want to

         12  introduce my colleague Juliet Burdelski from INFORM.

         13  She's going to go into more detail about what she's

         14  learned about the existing program through some

         15  surveys that she did, and how can it be improved in

         16  the future. And we'd like to say, we know the

         17  Commissioner of TLC offered to work with the Council

         18  and all the groups involved, and we certainly would

         19  like to do that, and we want this program to work.

         20  We don't want to shove it down anybody's throat.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         23                 Ms. Burdelski.

         24                 MS. BURDELSKI: Good morning. I'm

         25  Juliet Burdelski, the Director of INFORM's
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          2  Transportation Program, Urban Outreach. Again, I'd

          3  like to thank Chairman Liu and Member Yassky for

          4  setting up today's hearing.

          5                 My comments today address the impact

          6  of the 12,000 yellow cabs, reviews the current state

          7  of the City's natural gas taxi program, and I have a

          8  series of recommendations that the City can

          9  undertake to assure the success of the alternative

         10  fuel taxi program.

         11                 Each yellow cab driven on just a

         12  single shift can log up to 40,000 miles each year.

         13  Many cabs drive two shifts a day. In the process the

         14  12,000 cabs consumed some 60 million gallons of fuel

         15  every year, contributing to our country's alliance

         16  on foreign oil, which has now risen to 60 percent.

         17                 Each yellow cab converted to use

         18  natural gas generates just one-fifth of the

         19  pollution of a conventional gasoline taxi, and also

         20  helps reduce our alliance on foreign oil.

         21                 This is important because nearly all

         22  of the natural gas consumed in this country is

         23  produced in US, in the US and North America.

         24                 Recently I have been working with the

         25  Urban Environmental Law Center in New York City to
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          2  revisit the status of the City's Clean Taxi Program.

          3                 Together we have interviewed and

          4  surveyed nearly 50 current and former CNG taxi

          5  operators. We found that the primary beneficiaries

          6  of the current natural has taxi program are the

          7  owner/drivers. The owner/driver operates like a

          8  small business where he is willing to take risks and

          9  try new opportunities if it can result in cost

         10  savings and other benefits.

         11                 In many cases we found the

         12  owner/drivers have been pleased with their

         13  experience with their natural gas vehicles, and are

         14  interested in continuing with a natural gas vehicle

         15  program by purchasing a new vehicle.

         16                 We believe that the owner/drivers

         17  will be an important part in the implementation of

         18  this proposed bill, and will be instrumental in

         19  guiding its success through the purchase of natural

         20  gas vehicles in the short term and other alternative

         21  and clean fuel vehicles in the long-term.

         22                 We found that surprisingly many of

         23  the drivers are in fact motivated by a commitment to

         24  clean air and they have stuck with the program in

         25  the absence of significant program support or
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          2  recognition of the efforts.

          3                 We found that the two City incentives

          4  have been the primary drivers of the voluntary

          5  purchase of CNG taxis. This includes the two-year

          6  life extension for owner/drivers which allows them

          7  to operate a vehicle for seven years, and a New York

          8  City Department of Transportation CMAC rebate which

          9  covers about $8,000 towards the cost of a CNG

         10  vehicle.

         11                 You may not be aware but there is in

         12  fact a million dollars remaining in this program

         13  today that can be used for more purchases of CNG

         14  vehicles and there is another $250,000 in the City

         15  account to build a CNG fueling station in Manhattan.

         16                 Again, we found that there are about

         17  a dozen CNG fueling stations, and this has been

         18  helped by the recent addition of the LaGuardia

         19  Airport station. We believe that this is a

         20  significant step forward in a program given its key

         21  locality and accessibility.

         22                 The natural gas companies and clean

         23  energy have continued to provide compressed natural

         24  gas at competitive prices to gasoline. This helps

         25  natural gas taxi operators realize a 25 to 30 cent
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          2  per gallon cost savings over gasoline.

          3                 This can translate into $1,000 of

          4  savings -- thousands of dollars of savings over the

          5  live of the vehicle. We have found that

          6  owner/drivers have been comfortably able to fuel

          7  their CNG vehicles using these locations on their

          8  travel pass to and from work, which seems to work

          9  for those owner/operators that work a single shift.

         10                 Unlike maybe some of the other

         11  testimony that was presented, we found that the

         12  primary concern of the drivers is not the

         13  availability of fuel, the primary concern has been

         14  the cost to maintain the vehicle once the warranty

         15  period has expired. So this issue must be addressed

         16  if this program is to be successful.

         17                 The Ford Crown Victoria yes, in fact,

         18  is the only currently available alternative fuel

         19  vehicle that is approved by the TLC for use as a

         20  taxi, and Ford has announced that it will no longer

         21  make this vehicle after 2004.

         22                 However, we have been made aware that

         23  Ford is working to assure that CNG conversion kits

         24  and providers are available to convert the Ford

         25  Crown Victoria gasoline to a CNG vehicle in 2004 and
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          2  beyond.

          3                 One potential converter in the New

          4  York area is Bachman AFC, which was recently awarded

          5  a contract to convert 175 gasoline Crown Victoria

          6  police cruisers in Dallas to CNG. This company has

          7  also received grant funding from NYSERDA to do other

          8  heavy duty vehicle conversion projects in New York

          9  State.

         10                 Ford now offers rebated to taxi

         11  drivers that when combined with the rebates they can

         12  actually purchase a CNG vehicle less than a gasoline

         13  vehicle, and this is an important incentive which we

         14  hope Ford will continue.

         15                 Finally, the energy bill that was

         16  mentioned earlier does provide a number of

         17  significant incentives for the purchase of

         18  alternative fuel vehicles and infrastructure that

         19  will significantly compliment these efforts in New

         20  York City.

         21                 The State of New York is also helping

         22  drive the market for cleaner fuel vehicles, and has

         23  a commitment to purchase only new alternative fuel

         24  vehicles by 2010 under Executive Order 111.

         25                 The State is helping to implement
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          2  this program by setting aside state land for CNG

          3  stations, and is committing to purchase CNG

          4  vehicles. That's an excellent model that we believe

          5  the City of New York could undertake as well.

          6                 In summary, the recommendations for

          7  this program that we'd like to set forth are we

          8  believe that the City should maintain the current

          9  vehicle rebate for the purchase of natural gas

         10  taxis, the City and the TLC should maintain and even

         11  extend the two-year vehicle life incentive, allowing

         12  alternative fuel vehicles to be retired after eight

         13  or even nine years.

         14                 Other incentives that may be more

         15  targeted to fleet operators, include reduced

         16  frequency of TLC inspections for CNG vehicles.

         17                 We believe that new incentives should

         18  be created that specifically benefit fleet operators

         19  and target other emerging technologies, such as

         20  hybrid electric vehicles, or alternative fuel

         21  vehicles that are also ADA compliant. To accommodate

         22  more operators for more than ten to 12 hours per

         23  day, the City should also work with private sector

         24  to locate new CNG stations in key areas. We believe

         25  some of these areas do include Lower Manhattan,
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          2  Northern Manhattan and the South Bronx. We also have

          3  significant asthma problems.

          4                 The City should also coordinate with

          5  the State to convert the State's efforts to build

          6  stations and to purchase CNG vehicles.

          7                 Other cities are using smaller

          8  vehicles as taxis. Hartford has a hundred CNG Crown

          9  -- or CNG Honda Civics, the Ford Econoline Van is

         10  working in cities like Los Angeles, Dallas, Phoenix.

         11  There is no reason that the City of New York

         12  couldn't look at these vehicles for options in the

         13  New York taxi fleet as well.

         14                 Once again, we encourage the City to

         15  adopt Intro. 287 and we are more than happy to work

         16  with the City Council and the Education Committee to

         17  make sure that this happens.

         18                 Thanks very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         20  for your very thoughtful testimony.

         21                 A quick question from Council Member

         22  Koppell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes, I

         24  appreciate the testimony very much, and it was

         25  interesting to hear the contrast of your testimony
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          2  with some of the testimony of the taxi

          3  representatives. One of the issues that Mr. Sherman

          4  raised on several occasions was the size of the

          5  trunk. Now, you say you interviewed all these

          6  owner/operators, did they call your attention to

          7  that problem?

          8                 MS. BURDELSKI: Some of the

          9  conversions, the early conversions, they actually

         10  put the CNG cylinders in the trunk, so that was a

         11  problem for a small portion of the drivers. But the

         12  new vehicles have been redesigned and they're still,

         13  according to Ford, you know, significant trunk

         14  capacity. I've looked in the trunk, so --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I couldn't

         16  hear what you just said.

         17                 There still is what?

         18                 MS. BURDELSKI: The Ford has

         19  redesigned that vehicle, so the cylinders are not

         20  sitting in the trunk. It was a problem for some of

         21  the converted vehicles, where they didn't design the

         22  vehicles from the ground up basically, so they put

         23  the CNG cylinders in the trunk.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But you say

         25  they are no longer there?
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          2                 MS. BURDELSKI: Well, the new vehicles

          3  are not designed that way, no. And the conversions

          4  are not designed that way either. That was an early

          5  vehicle, like in --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, you're

          7  saying to me that the vehicles that are available

          8  now have substantial trunk room?

          9                 I mean, the Crown Victoria, which is

         10  very similar to the car I drive, which is a Mercury

         11  Marquis, has a very large trunk. Are you saying that

         12  the new CNG vehicles also have a large trunk?

         13                 MS. BURDELSKI: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, that's

         15  interesting.

         16                 Now, what about, you said that there

         17  is an issue with respect to the maintenance of the

         18  car; is that correct?

         19                 MS. BURDELSKI: The drivers that we

         20  spoke to, about 30 percent of those respondents said

         21  that their main problem with the program was the

         22  cost of vehicle repair after the warranty service,

         23  and that is a problem, that has been a problem with

         24  the CNG vehicles nationally.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Have you done
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          2  a formal report based on your review?

          3                 .

          4                 MS. BURDELSKI: I have a draft report

          5  and had to provide a copy.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I think

          7  it would be useful for the Committee and certainly

          8  for me to look at the copy because your conclusions

          9  are so at variance with what the taxi

         10  representatives said. It would be interesting to see

         11  why that is so.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. A quick

         14  question from Council Member Sears.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you. Just

         16  one question. We're talking about the trunk size,

         17  and there seems to be a disparity here. How do you

         18  determine, or how did Ford determine that the trunk

         19  capacity is as large as it should be to accommodate

         20  airport passengers, to accommodate families who were

         21  traveling, because we don't have different sizes

         22  that call for people of four who have suitcases and

         23  so on, so what is the difference between the

         24  original size, how small it was, as compared to what

         25  is now being manufactured?
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          2                 MS. BURDELSKI: We have a

          3  representative from Ford, I think, that's speaking

          4  next, so I would prefer to let them address that.

          5  But I know visually --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay, because

          7  when it's a statement like that it can lead to

          8  misconception as to what the space is all about.

          9  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for

         11  joining us this morning.

         12                 At this time I'd like to ask Todd

         13  Fronckowiak, Manager at Ford Motor Company to join

         14  us. I want to thank you for the time and expense

         15  you've invested in coming from out of town to our

         16  hearing today, and for your patience in this

         17  relatively long hearing that we're having.

         18                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: Good morning.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Oh, I'm sorry,

         20  before you proceed I just want to alert everybody in

         21  the audience that if you do have comments or

         22  testimony today, that you need to fill one of these

         23  out. Thank you. And you can get one from the

         24  Sergeants.

         25                 Good morning. Thank you for joining
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          2  us.

          3                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman, and Council members. Thank you for

          5  allowing Ford Motor Company to address the Council

          6  on this important issue. My name is Todd

          7  Fronckowiak. I'm the Environmental Policy Manager

          8  for Ford Motor Company. I've been with the company

          9  for about 14 years, and I appreciate speaking with

         10  you this morning.

         11                 As you've heard through various

         12  testimonies this morning, Ford has long been a

         13  global leader in alternative fuel vehicle

         14  technology. We are also leaders in the US and New

         15  York City taxicab market.

         16                 Over the years we have produced an

         17  impressive line-up of environmental friendly

         18  vehicles that run on not only natural gas, including

         19  Natural Gas Crown Victoria taxicab, but as well as

         20  propane, electricity, ethanol and methanol.

         21                 In 1995, we began working with the

         22  City of New York Taxicab and Limousine Commission to

         23  address their vehicle needs and help them achieve

         24  their environmental goals and pilot program. As a

         25  result, through a cooperative and dedicated effort,
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          2  we developed and sold a number of Natural Gas Crown

          3  Victoria's to New York's taxicab fleet.

          4                 These vehicles are extremely clean,

          5  robust and reliable. Even though we have invested

          6  millions of dollars in resources to the program, we

          7  have continued to work very closely with the Taxicab

          8  and Limousine Commission and fleet operators, and

          9  have made continuous improvements to the vehicles,

         10  the market has not broadly accepted these vehicles.

         11                 Based on our experiences with this

         12  and other similar programs throughout the country,

         13  we thought that it would be beneficial to focus on

         14  some key questions as you're considering number 287.

         15                 Namely, what are the key vehicle

         16  needs and demands of the taxicab operators and

         17  customers?

         18                 Where are the incremental vehicle or

         19  operating costs associated with the various vehicle

         20  technologies and who will pay for them?

         21                 And what does it take to develop and

         22  prove-out vehicles with advanced technologies for

         23  the unique taxicab duty cycle?

         24                 Our leadership in alternative fuel

         25  has taught us that fueling infrastructure and the
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          2  most basic vehicle attributes, like cost, storage

          3  space, maintenance, reliability, range, and

          4  performance, just be considered for a program to be

          5  successful over the long term.

          6                 Compromises in any of these

          7  attributes will result in obstacles that will likely

          8  impact implementation.

          9                 In addition, above and beyond the

         10  everyday vehicle needs of traditional retail

         11  customers, in our experience, the taxicab market

         12  clearly requires uniquely designed vehicles that are

         13  developed to meet the demands of their operators,

         14  passengers and around the clock stop and go vehicle

         15  driving cycles.

         16                 This is an exciting time in the

         17  automobile industry. There have been some incredible

         18  advancements in internal combustion engine

         19  technology and there are also very new vehicle

         20  technologies being introduced.

         21                 For example, when we first introduced

         22  the Natural Gas Crown Victoria taxicab in New York,

         23  it was certified to the California Ultra Low

         24  Emissions Vehicle standards. These are the same

         25  standards that all of our gasoline Crown Victorias
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          2  are certified to today.

          3                 Another good example of the progress

          4  we've made is the 2.3 liter Ford Focus that is

          5  certified to be extremely stringent California

          6  Partial Zero Emissions Vehicle standards and

          7  available in all states at no incremental cost to

          8  customers.

          9                 The emissions accomplishments of this

         10  affordable, gasoline-fueled vehicle are quite

         11  remarkable. Building on this, Ford will introduce

         12  later next summer the Escape Hybrid. This vehicle is

         13  a full-hybrid that offers the utility of the base

         14  Escape vehicle, and will be certified as a PZEV,

         15  partial zero emissions vehicle, and get between 35

         16  and 40 miles per gallon in City driving.

         17                 Ford is also working on

         18  hydrogen-powered vehicle technology, and we're the

         19  only manufacturer in the world with a successful

         20  hydrogen fuel cell program, as well as hydrogen

         21  internal combustion engine vehicle development

         22  programs.

         23                 There are clearly many promising

         24  technologies out there and that we are working on,

         25  but they must be evaluated from the customer's
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          2  perspective.

          3                 In closing, Ford has been in the

          4  business of making and selling vehicles for over 100

          5  years, and we know that when customers consider

          6  purchasing a vehicle, they are concerned with

          7  affordability, quality, reliability, safety, comfort

          8  and utility.

          9                 From our perspective, no one factor

         10  can be ignored in this highly competitive U.S.

         11  marketplace.

         12                 Furthermore, our leadership in the

         13  taxicab market has taught us that the extremely

         14  demanding taxicab duty cycle requires uniquely

         15  designed products that cost-effectively meet the

         16  needs of the taxicab customers and passengers, and

         17  any broad policy goals in this area need to remain

         18  consistent and focused on those day-to-day needs of

         19  the taxi fleet.

         20                 As the Council members consider

         21  unique policies for New York City taxicabs, we

         22  simply suggest that they work with the automakers

         23  and the taxi industry to pursue market-based

         24  policies that address the desired environmental

         25  goals in the most cost-effective and sustainable
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          2  ways.

          3                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          4  speak to you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          6                 We have a question from Council

          7  Member Sears.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

          9                 Can you tell me why the market did

         10  not broadly accept those vehicles?

         11                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: Our report of that

         12  would be primarily what you heard from the

         13  customers.

         14                 The issue with the vehicles, it's a

         15  very low volume vehicle for us. Our annual

         16  production never exceeded 800 units in any given

         17  year, and total production over the cost of this

         18  whole program was between 2,000 and 3,000 vehicles.

         19                 The sacrifices or the compromises the

         20  customer has to make with these very clean vehicles,

         21  just makes them less desirable than a conventional

         22  gasoline vehicle.

         23                 The other issues with switching,

         24  service issues, the maintenance issues, were not

         25  without blame. The delay issues, the delivery issues
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          2  with such a small volume, low volume program, have

          3  also deterred from their popularity.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right.

          5  Thank you. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Questions from

          7  Council Member Yassky.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: The

          9  compromises that the customer had to make in order

         10  to achieve the cleanliness, can you just tell me

         11  what those were?

         12                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: Again, the more

         13  practical attributes of the vehicle range, the range

         14  of the vehicle because of compressing natural gas

         15  and storing it in these very strong cylinders takes

         16  away some space, so there's limited range of the

         17  vehicle, and we compress the natural gas at 3,600

         18  pounds per square inch. You lose storage space in

         19  the trunk, and fueling infrastructure. The idea of

         20  having fuel at your home base or your centrally

         21  fueled fleet, is a great way to start the day, but

         22  throughout the day, the risk of not being able to

         23  find fuel conveniently from our customers'

         24  perspective is a deterrent.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What is the
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          2  range of a 2004 model year, CNG?

          3                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: Like any vehicle, it

          4  depends how you drive it.

          5                 Many of the fleets that based on our

          6  sales people have said, the range of City driving is

          7  between 50 and 100 miles for a full load. We have an

          8  extended version that has additional cylinders in

          9  the trunk to store more natural gas on board;

         10  however, that will extend the range of the vehicle,

         11  but it takes away additional trunk space.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And what's the

         13  range of an extended version?

         14                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: If you do it on a

         15  standard cycle, like an EPA drive cycle, it's a

         16  little over 200 miles.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Two-hundred

         18  miles.

         19                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: The City driving,

         20  based on the experience with the standard tank, is

         21  probably half of that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And how much

         23  trunk space is there in the 2004 model year,

         24  compared to standard Crown Victoria? Is it half as

         25  much, a quarter, three-quarters?
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          2                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: I don't have an

          3  approximation for you, but with the standard tanks,

          4  there's a little shelf, and the way Ford designed

          5  it, we tried to save as much space as possible, and

          6  we tucked the tanks towards the back of the trunk.

          7  It does take up space. I don't have the specific

          8  volume it takes but we try to leave the most useful

          9  space --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I don't want

         11  to press you for numbers if you don't have them, but

         12  it's your guess that it's more or less than half the

         13  amount of trunk space, compared to a regular one?

         14                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: Taking a swag, it's

         15  probably about 60 percent of the normal trunk space.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

         17                 And I know that you have at least one

         18  model car that meets super low PZEV, partial zero

         19  emissions standards.

         20                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Will you have

         22  the Crown Victoria that meets PZEV?

         23                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: I don't know of our

         24  future product plans. We haven't made any

         25  announcements on that.
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          2                 I think it's likely in the future

          3  there will be, I just can't comment on when.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: If the New

          5  York City taxi industry wanted Crown Victorias with

          6  PZEV technology, how quickly would those cars be

          7  available? A year, two years?

          8                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: The development

          9  cycle of a program like that is probably closer to

         10  two years, if a decision to go ahead was made.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         12                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: You're welcome.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm sorry,

         14  just one last question. I know that you had -- I

         15  read just through the newspapers that you, Ford, had

         16  been planning to introduce a hybrid SUV, but that's

         17  been delayed.

         18                 What's the current expectation?

         19                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: Actually, I'm glad

         20  you asked the question. Actually it has not been

         21  delayed. The early announcements were that we were

         22  going to introduce it this year to specific fleets.

         23  So that was part of our normal development process.

         24  With an extremely advanced vehicle like this we

         25  thought we'd put them in the hands of post office or
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          2  some local fleet to do on-the-road testing. The only

          3  decision we made is we're doing the testing

          4  ourselves with a fleet of about 50 vehicles we have

          5  running around.

          6                 The retail delivery date or job one

          7  date of that will be next summer, and that hasn't

          8  changed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So starting

         10  next summer there will be a large Ford hybrid.

         11                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: It's our smallest

         12  hybrid. It's the Escape Hybrid. But it will be

         13  coming off our assembly lines right next to the

         14  gasoline version.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Are there any

         16  plans for a more sizable Ford hybrid?

         17                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: We haven't announced

         18  any. The only other plans we've announced this far

         19  are new sedans that will be coming out in 2005, will

         20  be our next platform for hybrid system.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         22                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: We're using our

         23  hybrid Escape kind of to test the market. It's kind

         24  of an investment for us, and we want to see how the

         25  market responds to it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: This Committee truly

          3  appreciates your journey from Detroit to join us at

          4  this morning's hearing. And we like to thank of New

          5  York City as the center of all things, and the

          6  driving force behind all change, but obviously we

          7  are one city in a large nation. And as Council

          8  Member Koppell alluded to earlier, there are

          9  probably national policies that should be

         10  implemented that may provide more incentive for

         11  companies such as Ford to develop these new

         12  technologies.

         13                 Do you think that there is a shortage

         14  of mandate or incentive coming from Washington?

         15                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: We do. And we've

         16  been lobbying extremely hard, not only during this

         17  legislative session in Washington, but for five

         18  years for incentives for these vehicles. We packed

         19  the house, I believe on Tuesday. The Senate has not

         20  yet decided if they're going to make a floor vote,

         21  but it's essentially what was called the clear act,

         22  and it has tax credits, not for us, but for people

         23  who buy these things, that they can claim against

         24  their personal income tax for alternative fuel

         25  vehicles, hybrids, fuel cells, and clean diesel.
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          2                 Our people in Washington are working

          3  very hard to try to make that happen, and we are a

          4  broad coalition with a couple other manufacturers,

          5  but also some of the environmentalists, to support

          6  these and thinks they're the right thing to do.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, please, Council

          9  Member Koppell.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It was

         11  announced, I think not by you but by others, that

         12  Ford is no longer going to be producing these CNG

         13  vehicles after next year; is that true?

         14                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: That is correct,

         15  yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And is there

         17  a guarantee that there will be available, that is

         18  the Ford Crown Victoria, with the CNG, is there any

         19  guarantee that they'll be available in 2005 and

         20  beyond?

         21                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: No, no. The basis of

         22  our announcement is that the production for the

         23  Natural Gas Crown Victoria will stop after the 2004

         24  model year.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And there was
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          2  some talk about kits being available for conversion;

          3  is that a reality or is that just a hope?

          4                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: To be honest with

          5  you, I don't have the details on that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So there's no

          7  commitment by Ford to providing a CNG taxicab for

          8  New York City?

          9                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: No. The current

         10  announcement is we will stop production after our

         11  2004 model year after eight years of production.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And this Ford

         13  Crown Victoria is the only model that the Taxi

         14  Commission currently accepts the taxis; is that

         15  right?

         16                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: I was under the

         17  impression that there were a few Explorer, sport

         18  utility vehicles, and I'm not positive on that. Our

         19  gentleman who works closely with the Commission

         20  wasn't able to attend today.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I see.

         22                 Well, that certainly puts some doubt

         23  into this legislation. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It was testified to

         25  previously that the Ford Crown Victoria is the only
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          2  compressed natural gas vehicle, or actually the only

          3  clean alternative fuel vehicle approved by the Taxi

          4  and Limousine Commission for use.

          5                 Gentlemen, thank you very much for

          6  participating in today's hearing.

          7                 MR. FRONCKOWIAK: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: At this point I'd

          9  like to ask the final panel to join us. That would

         10  be John Rathbun and Garnet Glover. John Rathbun from

         11  KeySpan, and Garnet Glover from Clean Energy.

         12                 Good morning, gentlemen. Thank you

         13  for joining us. If you prefer an order or?

         14                 MR. GLOVER: I don't think it matters.

         15  John and I are not in competition, so.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, why don't we

         17  proceed with John Rathbun from KeySpan.

         18                 MR. RATHBUN: Thank you, Chairman Liu,

         19  and good afternoon. Thank you for the opportunity to

         20  address this Council. And thank you, Councilman

         21  Yassky, for the extending of an invitation to

         22  KeySpan Energy.

         23                 My name is John Rathbun and I am

         24  Manager of Technical Solutions for KeySpan Energy. I

         25  manage the sales and marketing of natural gas

                                                            108

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  vehicles for KeySpan, one of the largest

          3  distributors of natural gas in the country.

          4                 KeySpan has been a national leader in

          5  promoting the use of natural gas vehicles. We were

          6  the founders of the Natural Gas Vehicle Coalition,

          7  and have put some 20 million into developing natural

          8  gas fueling infrastructure in New York City. Our own

          9  fleet of 1,300 vehicles in New York City runs on

         10  natural gas.

         11                 KeySpan owns and operates nine CNG

         12  fueling stations in New York City, and of the 5,000

         13  natural gas vehicles operating in New York City,

         14  many of these, including buses, utilize these

         15  stations.

         16                 In the mid-1900s, the City of New

         17  York working with private partners, including Ford

         18  Motor Company, Con Edison and KeySpan initiated a

         19  natural gas taxi program. Key elements of the

         20  program were funds provided by the New York City

         21  Department of Transportation and incentives offered

         22  by the TLC Commission.

         23                 Three-hundred natural gas taxis were

         24  purchased and placed in operation under the Clean

         25  Taxi Program, KeySpan actively participated,
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          2  marketed, coordinated in the sale of these taxis and

          3  to this day a majority of the existing natural gas

          4  taxis fuel our KeySpan facilities.

          5                 I'm here today to discuss why New

          6  York City should encourage the use of natural gas

          7  taxis.

          8                 Let me begin by pointing out that the

          9  environmental situation in New York City, more and

         10  more studies point to tailpipe emissions as the

         11  significant cause of asthma in urban areas.

         12                 And asthma, as Councilman Yassky

         13  pointed out, is an especially acute problem in New

         14  York City where asthma hospitalization rates are

         15  high and increasing year after year. The City has an

         16  average of 6.4 hospitalizations per 1,000 residents,

         17  in between 1998 and '97, asthma hospitalizations

         18  increased 22 percent, with the largest increase

         19  being the children in low-income communities.

         20                 Taxicabs offer a great opportunity to

         21  mitigate air pollution in New York. Up to ten

         22  percent of the vehicles in Manhattan streets are

         23  taxis and they account for one-third of the vehicle

         24  miles and one third of the emissions in Manhattan.

         25                 By the nature of City traffic, these
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          2  vehicles are often idling, which produces the

          3  greatest amount of pollution. A medallion taxi fleet

          4  in New York City comprises some 12,000 taxis, and

          5  each taxi travels anywhere from 50 to 80,000 miles

          6  per year and consumes approximately 15 gallons of

          7  gasoline per day, or 5,000 gallons of fuel per year.

          8                 Overall, the City of New York

          9  medallion fleet consumes over 60 million gallons of

         10  gasoline each year.

         11                 Increased use of natural gas taxis

         12  would greatly reduce both the consumption of

         13  gasoline and vehicular emissions.

         14                 A 2002 Ford Crown Victoria makes

         15  about 25 pounds less air pollution than its gasoline

         16  counterpart. In replacing the older taxis with the

         17  new natural gas taxis would result in even greater

         18  reductions in air pollutants.

         19                 If all 12,000 taxis in New York City

         20  operate on that gas, more than 2,600 tons of

         21  pollution would be eliminated from New York City's

         22  air. That's a pretty staggering number.

         23                 Replacing gasoline with natural-gas

         24  taxis would also reduce New York's dependence on

         25  foreign oil.
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          2                 According to the New York State

          3  Energy Research and Development Authority, NYSERDA,

          4  New Yorkers spent approximately $12.6 billion on

          5  energy in the transportation sector in 1999.

          6  Eighty-five percent of the oil used in New York

          7  State is imported, a level of reliance greater than

          8  any other state in the nation.

          9                 The fact is, investment in natural

         10  gas powered taxis is sound economics. Natural gas

         11  taxis last longer and require less maintenance than

         12  their gasoline-powered counterparts. If enough

         13  natural-gas powered vehicles were produced each

         14  year, their price would be comparable to

         15  conventional vehicles.

         16                 Right now the incremental costs of an

         17  alternative fuel vehicle is offset by funds

         18  available through the New York City DOT Clean Taxi

         19  Program and by vehicle incentives, as we heard

         20  earlier, the purchase price of a CNG taxi is

         21  actually less than a conventional gasoline taxi.

         22                 Moreover, natural gas is not only

         23  cleaner than gasoline, but less expensive and has a

         24  higher octane rating than gasoline.

         25                 Potential fuel savings are estimated

                                                            112

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  at over $1,000 per year, per shift for every

          3  vehicle.

          4                 Taxi owners and operators will attest

          5  that the lack of fueling stations in Manhattan

          6  discourages them from purchasing natural gas taxis.

          7                 While the cost of building stations

          8  is not overwhelming, the cost of land in Manhattan

          9  is. But the City of New York owns property that

         10  would be ideal for natural gas fueling stations, and

         11  recently, BP Amoco, with the partnership of Clean

         12  Energy opened a fueling station at LaGuardia

         13  Airport.

         14                 If land were available at a

         15  reasonable cost, and mandates were in place to

         16  ensure that a certain number of vehicles would be

         17  available to utilize those stations, I think we'd

         18  find companies that would be willing to assume the

         19  cost of building these stations.

         20                 At its peak, New York had over 300

         21  clean taxis in operation and was leading the nation

         22  in implementing a clean taxi fleet.  Today, however,

         23  there are less than 100 taxis in operation. Taxi

         24  programs in other states and other cities in the

         25  country have been successful because of mandates and
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          2  partnerships between fuel providers and taxi

          3  operators.

          4                 On behalf of KeySpan, I urge our

          5  elected officials to support the replacement of

          6  gasoline taxis with clean fuel taxis.

          7                 Increased economic incentives for

          8  vehicle procurement, infrastructure development and

          9  alternative fuel use with promote greater investment

         10  in clean fuel vehicles.

         11                 Stronger regulatory measures will

         12  discourage the use of imported oil and encourage the

         13  use of cleaner domestically produced fuels.

         14                 Such measures would be good for our

         15  nation, good for the economy and for the

         16  environment, as well as good for the health of New

         17  York citizens.

         18                 I would also like to state that

         19  there's been a lot of discussion about the vehicles,

         20  whether they are available. I would urge the Council

         21  to take a look at the study that was done by INFORM

         22  on the taxi fleet operators, and review some of the

         23  findings from that study.

         24                 There was some interesting

         25  information that contradicted what some of the other
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          2  taxi representatives were stating today, and I think

          3  it would be best to hear the information directly

          4  from some of the taxi operators in terms of range,

          5  trunk capacity, and whether these vehicles are a

          6  viable, robust and can operate on the City streets

          7  of New York.

          8                 I thank you for your consideration,

          9  and thank you for addressing the Council today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         11                 And Mr. Glover.

         12                 MR. GLOVER: Thank you, Chairman Chen

         13  -- Len -- Liu. I'm sorry.

         14                 I have a statement I would like to

         15  read, and then I'll be happy to answer any

         16  questions.

         17                 Honorable Chairman and Council

         18  Members, my name is Garnet Glover. I am the General

         19  Manager of Eastern Sales And Operations for Clean

         20  Energy.

         21                 During the next few minutes I will

         22  introduce you to Clean Energy and what we have

         23  accomplished in the CNG marketplace, present our

         24  vision of what can be done in New York City, and

         25  close with now we propose it should be accomplished.
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          2                 Clean Energy, headquartered in Seal

          3  Beach, California, is the largest supplier of

          4  natural gas as a transportation fuel in North

          5  America. It is the largest provider of vehicular

          6  natural gas for NGV fleets and related turnkey

          7  services in North America, with more than 145 CNG

          8  fueling stations in operation.

          9                 We currently service more than 500

         10  taxis daily in locations in Northern, Southern

         11  California and in Phoenix.

         12                 Time is of the essence to a taxicab,

         13  therefore, one of the major keys to a successful

         14  refueling station is to make it convenient, simple

         15  to use and fast. The environmental and health

         16  benefits of NGVs are well documented; therefore, I

         17  will not spend time in justifying the need for

         18  converting fleets to CNG.

         19                 As you know, a single CNG vehicle

         20  replaces six gas vehicles when it comes to cleaning

         21  up the air. The City evidently recognized this long

         22  ago because you were once the leader in the effort

         23  to convert taxi fleets to CNG. Clean Energy wants to

         24  become your partner and help you regain that

         25  leadership role.
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          2                 Clean Energy has found that

          3  partnering with government agencies and cities is

          4  the best method for both parties to achieve goals

          5  that are mutually beneficial. Clean Energy proposes

          6  a public/private partnership with the City to

          7  design, build and operate CNG refueling stations,

          8  strategically placed for convenient use, not only

          9  for taxis, but for other NGVs as well, be they

         10  private or public.

         11                 Fundamentally, Clean Energy is

         12  willing to invest in a network of CNG fueling

         13  stations that support taxis, in exchange for a

         14  strong public policy commitment to implement a

         15  minimum number of CNG vehicles over an agreed upon

         16  number of years. These vehicles may be taxis, refuse

         17  trucks, light-duty maintenance and transit.

         18                 Building in New York City is very

         19  expensive; therefore, consideration of location and

         20  footprint is vital to our mutual success. Clean

         21  Energy has been very successful in partnering with

         22  gas station companies in placing a CNG pump on their

         23  footprint, much like what we did in an agreement

         24  with BP at the recently opened LaGuardia Airport CNG

         25  station. This type of agreement should be thoroughly
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          2  explored when location is being considered.

          3                 Clean Energy has a proven track

          4  record for working with the government and industry

          5  to advance implementation of natural gas vehicles

          6  throughout North America. These "public/private

          7  partnerships" have been tremendously successful in

          8  leveraging public and private industry dollars to

          9  achieve the synergistic goals of reducing air

         10  pollution and increasing natural gas consumption in

         11  the transportation sector.

         12                 The Clean Energy goals is to make CNG

         13  stations look like, feel like and refuel like a gas

         14  station, and we have been able to accomplish that

         15  goal in many locations nationwide. We want to do

         16  that in New York City. This is not only important

         17  for taxis but it is equally important for City

         18  maintenance vehicles, refuse trucks, transit buses

         19  and the private sector.

         20                 To show our commitment to a

         21  partnership with the City, let me leave you with

         22  this thought. If the City and the TLC will commit to

         23  have 1,000 CNG taxis on the road within five years,

         24  Clean Energy will commit $3 million in capital to

         25  design, build and operate CNG refueling stations to
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          2  service them.

          3                 Thank you for your time and attention

          4  in this most important matter. I have provided you

          5  with a packet that has more information about Clean

          6  Energy and how successful we've been throughout the

          7  United States. And at this time I'm prepared to

          8  answer any questions on infrastructure or anything

          9  else.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, thank you for

         11  that very generous offer. We have it in writing.

         12                 MR. GLOVER: Yes, and I'm willing to

         13  do more for refuse trucks, and I provided you with a

         14  document that we presented to the Mayor on refuse as

         15  well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We have a question

         17  from Council Member Sears.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, actually

         19  it's to follow up on your comment. Tell me, will the

         20  3 million that you're talking about, will that be

         21  able to take care of the 1,000 vehicles that you're

         22  raising? Or will that be a partial cost for what

         23  would have to be done to accommodate?

         24                 MR. GLOVER: Well, in our opinion, if

         25  you put three stations in Manhattan, then that would
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          2  accommodate traffic flow in Manhattan.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: In Manhattan.

          4                 MR. GLOVER: Yes, in Manhattan.

          5                 Now, with that 3 million -- for

          6  instance, a comment was made that the VP station,

          7  that the Port Authority had 1.5 million in grant

          8  money, they may have had 1.5 million in grant money,

          9  we only saw $450,000 in grant money. But that

         10  station we built out at LaGuardia cost about

         11  $850,000.

         12                 What we can do is, if we think that

         13  with the infrastructure that you have outside of

         14  Manhattan, if you put three stations in Manhattan,

         15  and you size them, the same size as the compressors

         16  that we have at the LaGuardia station, you could be

         17  fueling 40 vehicles an hour at those stations in

         18  Manhattan.

         19                 I've already talked to Commissioner

         20  Daus, and I'm going to get together with him to work

         21  with them on providing an answer to the question

         22  that Councilman Yassky had about how many stations

         23  do we need. And I actually talked to Commissioner

         24  Daus before the hearing, and said that, you know, I

         25  want to get together with them, and I had also
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          2  talked to him that the LaGuardia opened. So, we're

          3  going to be working with him on trying to determine

          4  exactly how many stations.

          5                 The 3 million capital that I'm

          6  talking about providing, doesn't include any type of

          7  grant money. So, over the last five years we secured

          8  over $45 million in grant money. We have a person

          9  that just works for securing grant money from

         10  different agencies, so we would look to also obtain

         11  different grant money from NYSERDA, or a federal

         12  earmark money or whatever we can do. So, we're

         13  committed to working with New York City, we're

         14  willing to put capital in, and it's like everything

         15  else, private industry, we just need a commitment

         16  that the vehicles are going to be there and we're

         17  ready to go.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. I have

         20  comments from Council Member Yassky.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

         22  Chair Liu.

         23                 I understand that the Committee is

         24  out of time, and, so, I will refrain from any

         25  questions. I just want to thank you and commend you
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          2  for the commitment that you're making to be part of

          3  a solution here.

          4                 And I do believe, Mr. Chair, this

          5  hearing has illustrated that there is a solution

          6  here that with everybody pitching in from the

          7  driving industry, from the vehicle manufacturing

          8  industry, from the fueling industry, I think there

          9  are solutions out there that works for everybody,

         10  and all that's needed is some leadership from the

         11  government to get there.

         12                 And Mr. Chair, you have provided that

         13  leadership to begin the process of getting there by

         14  holding this hearing, and I commend you for it.

         15                 And I just also want to thank the

         16  staff of the Transportation Committee, Katie Schmid

         17  and Mitch Schwartz, who worked very hard.

         18                 I also just want to publicly thank my

         19  own staff member Eric Paulson, who has worked quite

         20  a bit on this legislation, and I want his efforts to

         21  be publicly recognized; and also Juliet Burdelski

         22  and Mark Caserta, who testified earlier, who worked

         23  quite closely with us in providing us tremendous

         24  amounts of data and information.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          3                 There being no other witnesses, this

          4  hearing of the Transportation Committee is

          5  adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 20th day of November 2003.
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